
DEVELOPMENT 
COMMITTEE

________________________________________________
Wednesday, 9 August 2017 at 7.00 p.m.

Council Chamber, 1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove 
Crescent, London, E14 2BG

The meeting is open to the public to attend. 

Members:
Chair: Councillor Marc Francis
Vice Chair : Councillor John Pierce
Councillor Helal Uddin, Councillor Suluk Ahmed, Councillor Chris Chapman, Councillor 
Andrew Cregan and Councillor Sabina Akhtar

Substitutes: 
Councillor Danny Hassell, Councillor Ayas Miah, Councillor Clare Harrisson, Councillor 
Harun Miah, Councillor Mahbub Alam, Councillor Gulam Kibria Choudhury, Councillor 
Peter Golds and Councillor Julia Dockerill

[The quorum for this body is 3 Members]

Public Information.
The deadline for registering to speak is 4pm Monday, 7 August 2017
Please contact the Officer below to register. The speaking procedures are attached
The deadline for submitting material for the update report is Noon Tuesday, 8 August 
2017

Contact for further enquiries: 
Zoe Folley, Democratic Services, 
1st Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, E14 2BG
Tel: 020 7364 4877
E-mail: zoe.folley@towerhamlets.gov.uk
Web:http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee

Scan this code for 
an electronic 
agenda: 



Public Information
Attendance at meetings.
The public are welcome to attend meetings of the Committee. However seating is limited 
and offered on a first come first served basis.

Audio/Visual recording of meetings. 
Should you wish to film the meeting, please contact the Committee Officer shown on the 
agenda front page

Mobile telephones
Please switch your mobile telephone on to silent mode whilst in the meeting. 

Access information for the Town Hall, Mulberry Place.     

Bus: Routes: D3, D6, D7, D8, 15, 108, and115 all 
stop near the Town Hall. 
Docklands Light Railway: Nearest stations are 
East India: Head across the bridge and then 
through the complex to the Town Hall, Mulberry 
Place 
Blackwall station: Across the bus station then turn 
right to the back of the Town Hall complex, 
through the gates and archway to the Town Hall. 
Tube: The closest tube stations are Canning 
Town and Canary Wharf .
Car Parking: There is limited visitor pay and 

display parking at the Town Hall (free from 6pm)

If you are viewing this on line:(http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/content_pages/contact_us.aspx) 
Meeting access/special requirements. 
The Town Hall is accessible to people with special needs. There are accessible toilets, lifts 
to venues. Disabled parking bays and an induction loop system for people with hearing 
difficulties are available.  Documents can be made available in large print, Braille or audio 
version. For further information, contact the Officers shown on the front of the agenda. 

Fire alarm
If the fire alarm sounds please leave the building immediately by the nearest available fire 
exit without deviating to collect belongings. Fire wardens will direct you to the exits and to 
the fire assembly point. If you are unable to use the stairs, a member of staff will direct you 
to a safe area. The meeting will reconvene if it is safe to do so, otherwise it will stand 
adjourned.
Electronic agendas reports and minutes.
Copies of agendas, reports and minutes for council meetings can also be 
found on our website from day of publication.  

To access this, click www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee and search for 
the relevant committee and meeting date. 

Agendas are available at the Town Hall, Libraries, Idea Centres and One 
Stop Shops and on the Mod.Gov, Apple and Android apps.  

QR code for 
smart phone 
users

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

1. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS  (Pages 1 
- 4)

To note any declarations of interest made by Members, including those restricting 
Members from voting on the questions detailed in Section 106 of the Local Government 
Finance Act, 1992.  See attached note from the Monitoring Officer.
 

2. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)  (Pages 5 - 16)

To confirm as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Development Committee 
held on 14th June 2017.

3. RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS 
AND MEETING GUIDANCE  (Pages 17 - 18)

To RESOLVE that:

1) in the event of changes being made to recommendations by the Committee, the 
task of formalising the wording of those changes is delegated to the Corporate 
Director Place along the broad lines indicated at the meeting; and

2) in the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the Committee’s 
decision (such as to delete, vary or add conditions/informatives/planning 
obligations or reasons for approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, 
the Corporate Director Place is delegated authority to do so, provided always 
that the Corporate Director does not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision.

3) To note the procedure for hearing objections at meetings of the Development 
Committee and meeting guidance.

PAGE
NUMBER

WARD(S)
AFFECTED

4. DEFERRED ITEMS 

None.



5. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION 19 - 20

5 .1 114 -150 Hackney Road, London, E2 7QL (PA/17/00250)  21 - 66 Weavers

Proposal:

Mixed use redevelopment of site including part demolition, 
part retention, part extension of existing buildings 
alongside erection of complete new buildings ranging in 
height from four storeys to six storeys above a shared 
basement, to house a maximum of 9 residential units 
(Class C3), 12,600 sqm (GEA) of employment floorspace 
(Class B1), 1,340 sqm (GEA) of flexible office and retail 
floorspace at ground floor level (falling within Use Classes 
B1/A1-A5) and provision of 316 sqm (GEA) of Public 
House (Class A4), along with associated landscaping and 
public realm improvements, cycle parking provision, plant 
and storage

Recommendation:

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning 
permission subject to the prior completion of a legal 
agreement under Section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended), to secure planning 
obligations, and conditions and informatives. 

5 .2 Brussels Wharf, Glamis Road, E1W 3TD (PA/16/01978)  67 - 92 St 
Katharine's 
& Wapping

Proposal:
Development of 50 x 8.5m natural swimming pool and kid's 
pool incorporating a surfaced beach area and sun terrace, 
changing rooms, toilet, disabled facilities and kiosk (Use 
Class D2, A1-A3).
A café restaurant incorporating 1st floor viewing platform 
and integrated public toilet block and ground floor level 
(Use Class A3)
Ecological improvements to Shadwell Basin including new 
wet land park with improved fishing pitches
A new foot bridge and decked area (Science Deck). A new 
canoe polo court in Shadwell Basin

Recommendation:

That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning 
permission subject to conditions and informatives.

6. OTHER PLANNING MATTERS 
None
Next Meeting of the Development Committee
Wednesday, 6 September 2017 at 7.00 p.m. to be held in the Council Chamber, 1st 
Floor, Town Hall, Mulberry Place, 5 Clove Crescent, London, E14 2BG



DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS - NOTE FROM THE MONITORING OFFICER

This note is for guidance only.  For further details please consult the Members’ Code of Conduct 
at Part 5.1 of the Council’s Constitution.   

Please note that the question of whether a Member has an interest in any matter, and whether or 
not that interest is a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest, is for that Member to decide.  Advice is 
available from officers as listed below but they cannot make the decision for the Member.  If in 
doubt as to the nature of an interest it is advisable to seek advice prior to attending a meeting.  

Interests and Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs)

You have an interest in any business of the authority where that business relates to or is likely to 
affect any of the persons, bodies or matters listed in section 4.1 (a) of the Code of Conduct; and 
might reasonably be regarded as affecting the well-being or financial position of yourself, a 
member of your family or a person with whom you have a close association, to a greater extent 
than the majority of other council tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward affected.

You must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing of any such interest, for inclusion in the Register 
of Members’ Interests which is available for public inspection and on the Council’s Website.

Once you have recorded an interest in the Register, you are not then required to declare that 
interest at each meeting where the business is discussed, unless the interest is a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest (DPI).

A DPI is defined in Regulations as a pecuniary interest of any of the descriptions listed at 
Appendix A overleaf.  Please note that a Member’s DPIs include his/her own relevant interests 
and also those of his/her spouse or civil partner; or a person with whom the Member is living as 
husband and wife; or a person with whom the Member is living as if they were civil partners; if the 
Member is aware that that other person has the interest.   

Effect of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest on participation at meetings

Where you have a DPI in any business of the Council you must, unless you have obtained a 
dispensation from the authority's Monitoring Officer following consideration by the Dispensations 
Sub-Committee of the Standards Advisory Committee:-

- not seek to improperly influence a decision about that business; and
- not exercise executive functions in relation to that business.

If you are present at a meeting where that business is discussed, you must:-
- Disclose to the meeting  the existence and nature of the interest at the start of the meeting 

or when the interest becomes apparent, if later; and 
- Leave the room (including any public viewing area) for the duration of consideration and 

decision on the item and not seek to influence the debate or decision 

When declaring a DPI, Members should specify the nature of the interest and the agenda item to 
which the interest relates.  This procedure is designed to assist the public’s understanding of the 
meeting and to enable a full record to be made in the minutes of the meeting.  

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



Where you have a DPI in any business of the authority which is not included in the Member’s 
register of interests and you attend a meeting of the authority at which the business is 
considered, in addition to disclosing the interest to that meeting, you must also within 28 days 
notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest for inclusion in the Register. 

Further advice

For further advice please contact:-
Asmat Hussain Corporate Director of Law Probity and Governance and Monitoring Officer, 
Telephone Number: 020 7364 4801

Page 2



APPENDIX A:  Definition of a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest

(Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, Reg 2 and Schedule)

Subject Prescribed description
Employment, office, trade, 
profession or vacation

Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on 
for profit or gain.

Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other 
than from the relevant authority) made or provided within the 
relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred by the 
Member in carrying out duties as a member, or towards the 
election expenses of the Member.
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a trade union 
within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a 
body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest) and 
the relevant authority—
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works 
are to be executed; and
(b) which has not been fully discharged.

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the 
relevant authority.

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the 
area of the relevant authority for a month or longer.

Corporate tenancies Any tenancy where (to the Member’s knowledge)—
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest.

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where—
(a) that body (to the Member’s knowledge) has a place of 
business or land in the area of the relevant authority; and
(b) either—

(i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or 
one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or

(ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the 
total nominal value of the shares of any one class in which the 
relevant person has a beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that class.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

1

LONDON BOROUGH OF TOWER HAMLETS

MINUTES OF THE DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE

HELD AT 5.30 P.M. ON WEDNESDAY, 14 JUNE 2017

COUNCIL CHAMBER, 1ST FLOOR, TOWN HALL, MULBERRY PLACE, 5 CLOVE 
CRESCENT, LONDON, E14 2BG

Members Present:

Councillor Marc Francis (Chair)

Councillor Helal Uddin
Councillor Suluk Ahmed
Councillor Andrew Cregan
Councillor Sabina Akhtar
Councillor Peter Golds (Substitute for Councillor Chris Chapman)
Councillor Danny Hassell (Substitute for Councillor John Pierce)

Other Councillors Present:
None 

Apologies:

Councillor John Pierce
Councillor Chris Chapman

Officers Present:
Fleur Francis (Team Leader - Planning, Governance)
Paul Buckenham (Development Control Manager, 

Planning Services, Place)
Jennifer Chivers (Planning Officer, Place)
Kamlesh Harris (Planning Officer, Place)
Tim Ross (Team Leader, Planning Services Place)
Zoe Folley (Committee Officer, Governance)

1. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR FOR THE COMMITTEE FOR 2017/18 

It was proposed by Councillor Helal Uddin and seconded by Councillor Danny 
Hassell and RESOLVED

That Councillor John Pierce be elected Vice-Chair of the Development 
Committee for the Municipal Year 2017/2018

2. DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS 

No declarations of interest were made.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

2

3. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S) 

The Committee RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 10 May 2017 be 
agreed as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 

4. RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS 
AND MEETING GUIDANCE 

The Committee RESOLVED that:

1) In the event of changes being made to recommendations by the 
Committee, the task of formalising the wording of those changes is 
delegated to the Corporate Director, Place along the broad lines 
indicated at the meeting; and 

2) In the event of any changes being needed to the wording of the 
Committee’s decision (such as to delete, vary or add 
conditions/informatives/planning obligations or reasons for 
approval/refusal) prior to the decision being issued, the Corporate 
Director, Place is delegated authority to do so, provided always that the 
Corporate Director does not exceed the substantive nature of the 
Committee’s decision

3) To note the procedure for hearing objections at meetings of the 
Development Committee and the meeting guidance. 

4.1 Development Committee Terms of Reference, Quorum, Membership and 
Dates of Meetings 

The Committee RESOLVED:

That the Development Committee’s Terms of Reference, Quorum, 
Membership and Dates of future meetings be noted as set out in Appendices 
1, 2 and 3 to this report.

5. DEFERRED ITEMS 

5.1 106 Commercial Street (PA/16/03535) 

Update report tabled.

Paul Buckenham (Development Control Manager) introduced the application 
for conversion of building (class B1/B8) to fine dining food market (Class A3).

The Committee were reminded that at its previous meeting on 10th May 2017, 
the Committee were minded to refuse the application, contrary to the Officers 
recommendations due to concerns about the following issues.

Page 6



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

3

 Impact from the use
 Impact on the setting of the Conservation Area
 Impact of the proposal on the external appearance of the 

building particularly the roof
 The access arrangements given the level of anti-social 

behaviour in the area; 
 Overcrowding in the area and the safety implications of this 
 Noise disturbance
 Increased congestion in Commercial Street
 Servicing arrangements. 

Officers had since draft detailed reasons for refusal around these reasons as 
set out in the report that also contained their advice on the strength of the 
reasons. 

Tim Ross (Planning Services) presented the report. The Committee were 
reminded of the site location and surrounds and the nature of the proposal. 
Regarding land use and road safety, it was noted that the policy directed this 
type of premises to central locations. However, it could be considered that 
due to the volume of visitor numbers and the internal configuration, that the 
plans would result in the over intensification of use of the site and impact on 
road safety. Therefore, a reason on these grounds could form a reason for 
refusal. Regarding the impact on the Conservation Area, Officers felt that it 
could reasonably be considered that the proposal would cause some harm in 
this regard and would not be outweighed by the public benefits of the 
application. Therefore, this also could be sustained as a reason. Regarding 
the noise disturbance, it could be considered that the development had the 
potential to cause some harm to amenity throughout the later evening that 
could not be controlled by condition. Therefore it was considered that a 
reason on this third ground could also be defended. 

In respect of the concerns around ASB and the servicing arrangements, there 
was a lack of evidence to support these reasons.

Officers remained of the view that the application should be granted planning 
permission, however if they were minded to refuse the scheme, they were 
invited to consider the three suggested reasons in the Committee report.

On a vote of 0 in favour of the Officer recommendation to grant planning 
permission, 4 against and 0 abstentions, the Committee did not agree the 
Officer recommendation to grant planning permission.

Accordingly, Councillor Marc Francis proposed a motion that the planning 
permission be refused for the reasons set out in the Committee report dated 
14 June 2017 and on a vote of 4 in favour, 0 against and 0 abstentions, the 
Committee RESOLVED:

That planning permission be REFUSED at 106 Commercial Street for the 
conversion of building (class B1/B8) to fine dining food market (Class A3) for 

Page 7



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

4

the following reasons as set out in the Committee report, dated 14 June 
2017(PA/16/03535):

Land use/ road safety 

1. The proposed development by reason of its configuration of internal 
uses and space would result in an over intensification of use which 
would restrict to the ability of customers to safely access and exit 
the site, the ability to move within and around the building, the 
inability to control the number of visitors in the site and to ensure 
that new development does not have an adverse impact upon the 
safety and capacity of the street network. The proposal is therefore 
inappropriate development and contrary to policy 7.3 and 7.4 of the 
London Plan (2016), policies SP01 and SP09 of the Tower Hamlets 
Core Strategy (2010), and policies DM20 DM23 and DM25 of the 
Tower Hamlets Managing Development Document (2013). 

Impact on the conservation area

2. The proposed development by virtue of the impact to the external 
appearance of the roof and the loss of the slate roof, and proposed 
acoustic roof would cause less than substantial harm to the 
character and appearance of the Brick Lane and Fournier Street 
Conservation Area and would fail to preserve or enhance the 
character of this heritage asset. The harm identified to the 
designated heritage asset is not outweighed by the public benefits 
of the scheme. The scheme would therefore be contrary to 
paragraph 134 of the National Planning Policy Framework, and 
policies SP10 of the Core Strategy (2010) and policies DM24 and 
DM27 in the Managing Development Document (2013).

Noise 

3. The proposed development would cause harm to the amenity and 
living conditions of occupiers of adjoining residential properties 
through the overbearing impact of noise and disturbance generated 
as large numbers of customers enter and exit the development. The 
development would therefore be contrary to policies SP10 of the 
Core Strategy (2010) and DM25 of the Managing Development 
Document (2013) which seek to protect amenity for future and 
existing residents.

5.2 Millwall Outer Dock, London, E14 9RP (PA/16/01798) 

Paul Buckenham presented the application for the erection of a 16 berth 
residential mooring, including the installation of mooring pontoons and 
associated site infrastructure.

The Committee were reminded that at its previous meeting on 10 May 2017, 
the Committee were minded to refuse the application, contrary to the Officers 
recommendations due to concerns over:

Page 8



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

5

 The loss of open water space as a result of the proposal.
 Adverse impact on waterborne recreation and navigability within 

Millwall Outer Dock as a result of permanently moored vessels.
 The proposed servicing strategy (via Muirfield Crescent) would 

conflict with the free flow of pedestrians and cyclists and as such 
would represent a safety hazard.

In response Officers had since draft detailed reasons for refusal around these 
reasons as set out in the report that also contained their advice on the 
strength of the reasons. The Committee were reminded of the site location 
and the impact of the scheme on the water space. Officers considered that 
the plans would have a limited impact on the water space, however in 
defending this reason, could refer to the issues raised in objection to this. In 
response, Members referred to the concerns raised at the last meeting about 
the impact from noise from the nearby data centre and it was noted that there 
were measures to minimise such impacts. They also discussed further with 
Officers the strength of the reasons for refusal. 

On a vote of 0 in favour of the Officer recommendation to grant planning 
permission, 5 against and 0 abstentions, the Committee did not agree the 
Officer recommendation to grant planning permission.

Accordingly, Councillor Marc Francis proposed a motion that the planning 
permission be refused for the reasons set out in the Committee report dated 
14 June 2017 and on a vote of 5 in favour, 0 against and 0 abstentions, the 
Committee RESOLVED:

That planning permission be REFUSED at Millwall Outer Dock, London, E14 
9RP for the erection of a 16 berth residential mooring, including the 
installation of mooring pontoons and associated site infrastructure for the 
following reasons as set out in the Committee report, dated 14 June 
2017(PA/16/01798):

Reasons for Refusal:

Loss of Open Water Space

1. The proposed development by reason of its resultant loss of open 
water space and its failure to protect the open character of the Blue 
Ribbon Network would not improve the quality of the water space and 
is therefore inappropriate development. The development is therefore 
contrary to policy 7.28 of the London Plan (2016), policy SP04 of the 
Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010), and policy DM12 of the Tower 
Hamlets Managing Development Document (2013).

Impact Upon Waterborne Recreation and Navigability

2. The proposed development by reasons of its siting and scale would 
adversely impact upon the ability of Millwall Outer Dock to be used for 

Page 9



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

6

waterborne recreation and would also negatively impact upon the 
navigability of Millwall Outer Dock. The development is therefore 
contrary to policies 7.27 and 7.30 of the London Plan (2016), policy 
SP04 of the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010), and policy DM12 of 
the Tower Hamlets Managing Development Document (2013).

Servicing Arrangements

3. The proposed servicing strategy by reasons of its conflict with the free 
flow of pedestrians and cyclists would adversely impact the safety of 
the transport network. As a result the proposal is contrary to policies 
6.3, 6.9 and 6.10 of the London Plan (2016), policy SP09 of the Tower 
Hamlets Core Strategy (2010), and policy DM20 of the Tower Hamlets 
Managing Development Document (2013).

6. PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION 

6.1 87 Turner Street, Good Samaritan Public House (PA/16/00988) 

Update report tabled. 

Paul Buckenham introduced the application for the refurbishment of existing 
public house (A4) along with 3 storey extension to the west elevation to allow 
for the use of the upper stories as residential (C3) and associated works

The Chair invited registered speakers to address the Committee. 

It was noted that one of the registered objectors was unable to attend the 
meeting who was intending to read a statement on behalf of a neighbour. 
Therefore with the agreement of the Chair, it had been decided to include the 
statement in full in the update report.

Alex Learner (local resident) spoke in objection. He expressed concern about 
the proposed land use and the impact on the conservation areas and noted 
that the plans had attracted a large number of objections in the form of an 
online petition.  He also expressed concerns about the daylight and sunlight 
impacts, particularly the loss of light to the first and second floor units of 
neighbouring properties that breeched policy. He also considered that the 
assessment in the report was selective and failed to adequately report the full 
extent of the impacts. In response to Members, he clarified his concerns 
about the sunlight and daylight impacts due to the proximity of the proposal to 
neighbouring properties. He also answered questions about the impact on the 
public house. The changes to the layout might result in the overspill of 
customers onto the public realm. 

Luke Emmerton (Applicant’s representative) spoke in support of the 
application. The applicant emphasised that the public house would be 
retained and contained measures to improve its facilities and expand the 
basement area. The title of the objectors petition was misleading as it implied 

Page 10



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

7

that it would be lost which was not the case. Furthermore, the changes to 
planning law meant that any further proposal to change the use of the 
premises to anything other than a public house use could not be done under 
the permitted development regime and would need planning permission.  The 
plans would result in additional residential units and preserve the setting of 
the surrounding area. There would be no direct overlooking and the loss of 
light would be acceptable and typical for an urban environment. 

In response to questions about the impact of the changes on the viability of 
the public house, he stated that the current facilities were not fit for purpose 
and the plans sought to address this. There would be no loss of public house 
floor space on the ground floor and the basement area would be increased. 
He also provided further reassurances on the impact on neighbouring 
amenity, particularly to the properties at Gwynne House in terms of 
overlooking and loss of light. 

Jenifer Chivers (Planning Officer) gave a presentation on the application, 
highlighting the site and surrounds and the nature of the existing use that 
contained the public house.

She advised of the key features of the application. The application sought to 
refurbish the existing public house at ground floor and basement level and 
extend the building to create residential units.  It was proposed to replace the 
existing roof to facilitate the proposal. Consultation had been carried out and 
the key issues were noted. In terms of the land use, Officers were satisfied 
that the plans would safeguard the public house and not put at risk its viability 
given the nature of the plans and the recent changes to planning law.  The 
Committee also received reassurances about the height and appearance of 
the scheme, the servicing and waste plans and the impact on neighbouring 
amenity. Officers were recommending that the application was granted 
permission.

The Committee sought assurances about the proposed materials. Members 
wished to ensure that it would be appropriate for the surrounding area. Officer 
confirmed that there would be a condition requiring details of the materials to 
be submitted to ensure they would complement the area. The proposals had 
been considered by colleagues in the design and conservation team and they 
were satisfied with the plans subject to the conditions. 

The Committee also sought further clarity on the level of light loss to 
neighbouring buildings.  In response, Officer drew attention to the assessment 
in the Committee report that showed that a number of properties at Gwynne 
House would experience a minor to moderate adverse impact on sunlighting 
and daylighting. Overall the results could be considered as acceptable. 

The Committee also asked about the impact on the public house. 
Reassurances were sought that its temporary closure would not harm its 
viability in the long term and make its conversion to a residential development 
more likely by increasing the residential element. Officers gave further 
reassurance that the intention was that the public house would be retained 
and enhanced. There would also be noise insulation and post completion 

Page 11



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

8

noise testing to preserve the amenity of the occupants of the residential units. 
The Committee were keen to ensure that the public house remained a 
functioning public house.  To ensure this, it was discussed with Officers if an 
additional condition could be added to the permission placing a threshold on 
the number of the residential units to be occupied prior to the public house 
coming back into use. Officers reminded the committee of the need for any 
condition to meet the tests in policy and the various factors that should be 
taken into account in considering such a condition, such as the potential for 
this to delay the occupation of the residential units. Councillor Marc Francis 
proposed an additional condition requiring no more than 50% of the 
residential units be occupied prior to bringing the public house back into 
operation. This condition was put to the vote and agreed.

In response to further questions, Officers informed members of the statement 
on the online petition. 

On a vote of 5 in favour of the Officer recommendation, 1 against and 1 
abstention the Committee RESOLVED:

That the planning permission at 87 Turner Street, Good Samaritan Public 
House be GRANTED for the refurbishment of existing public house (A4) along 
with 3 storey extension to the west elevation to allow for the use of the upper 
stories as residential (C3) and associated works (PA/16/00988) subject to the 
conditions and informatives set out in the Committee report and the additional 
condition that requiring that no more than 50% of the residential units be 
occupied prior to bringing the public house back into operation.

6.2 Royal Duchess Public House, 543 Commercial Road, London 
E1PA/16/03300 

Update report tabled.

With the permission of the Chair, Elaine King the Chair of Pitsea Estate 
Tennant Residents Association addressed the meeting. She stated that she 
had submitted the online petition. She expressed concern about the adequacy 
of the developers consultation, direct overlooking to neighbours due to the 
closeness to neighbouring properties, that the application would create a 
sense of enclosure and that the height was out of keeping with the 
surrounding building heights. There would also be a lack of affordable 
housing. In response to members she answered questions about the height. 
The height of the building would exceed that of neighbouring buildings which 
were set back, in contrast with the proposal.

Rob Piggott, (Applicant’s representative) and Alison Arnaud (Tower Hamlets 
College) spoke in support. Mr Piggott spoke about the changes made to the 
scheme to reduce its height. He considered that it was an appropriate form of 
development for the area and the appearance was consistent with the 
surrounding area that included buildings of up to 7 stories in height. The 
Council’s officers and the developers own specialist heritage experts were of 
the view that the impact on the setting of the area would be less than 
substantial. The plans would provide a range of benefits including good 

Page 12



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

9

quality homes with a focus on family rented homes and a much needed 
education facility. The applicant had looked at the possibility of further 
reducing the height, but it was found that this would harm the viability of the 
plans. Ms Arnaud also spoke in support of the proposed education facility. 
She explained that it would include a Community café providing amongst 
other benefits, work experience opportunities for students. 

In response to questions, it was confirmed that all of the child play space 
would be located on the roof terrace and the application would only marginally 
fall short of the play space requirement in policy should the private gardens be 
taken into account as well. They also answered questions about the height of 
the building and the proposed materials.

Kamlesh Harris (Planning Services) presented the report explaining the 
nature of the site and surrounds that was predominantly residential and had 
excellent transport links. The plans sought to provide a residential led 
development that would vary in height but generally exceed the surrounding 
building heights. There would be a policy compliant level of affordable housing 
including family housing. 

Consultation had been carried out and the results were noted. Turning to the 
assessment, it was noted that the provision of a residential led scheme in the 
area with an education facility could be supported and complied with policy 
and the loss of the public house was considered acceptable. The house mix 
could also be considered as acceptable. However, the residential density 
exceeded the guidance in the London Plan for a site with a Public Transport 
level rating of 5 and there was also a shortfall of child play space. There were 
also concerns about the quality of the internal amenity for the future 
occupants. So for the reasons set out in the committee report, Officers were 
recommending that the application was refused permission. 

Members agreed that the scheme displayed symptoms of overdevelopment. 
However they welcomed the plans to accommodate a community facility 
within the development. The Committee questioned whether it had been 
factored into the viability assessment and whether it would affect the amount 
of affordable housing that could be secured. Officers confirmed that the plans 
included a flexible retail community use. It would be relatively small in size. 
The unit had been classified as a retail unit for the purposes of the 
assessment.

The Committee also asked about the child play space and it was noted that it 
had been positioned away from the busy roads and there would be a 
condition, if granted, requiring details of the proposed equipment be 
approved. 

The Committee also asked about the third reason for refusal regarding the 
lack of a legal agreement to secure financial and non-financial obligations and 
it was noted that it was standard practice to include such a reason for refusal 
in case the matter went to appeal.

Page 13



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

10

On a unanimous vote the Committee RESOLVED:

That planning permission at Royal Duchess Public House, 543 Commercial 
Road, London E1 be REFUSED subject to any direction by the London Mayor 
for the erection of a part 6, part 7 and part 8 storey building comprising 30 
residential units (use class C3) and 70sqm of flexible floor space (Use 
Classes A1/A2/A3/B1/D1) together with associated access, cycle parking and 
landscaping (PA/16/03300) for the following reasons as set out in the 
Committee report

Reason 1 – harm to local heritage

1. The proposed development by virtue of its excessive height and scale 
would be visually intrusive in the backdrop of the Grade II listed 
buildings at Albert Gardens, Marion Richardson School, the Troxy 
Building and the would also be harmful to the setting of the Albert 
Gardens and York Square Conservation Areas. The proposal would fail 
to respect the restrained scale of the adjacent conservation areas, 
creating a visually dominant development that would be visible from the 
public realm. The public benefits associated with the proposal, which 
include thirty new homes, including nine affordable dwellings, and 
additional jobs generated from 70sqm of retail/ community floorspace, 
are not considered to overcome the harm to the setting of the 
neighbouring listed buildings.

As a result the scheme would also fail to comply with sections 61 and 
72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 
(as amended), the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
objectives in particular paragraph 14, and section 12 of the NPPF, the 
London Plan, in particular policies 3.5, 3.7, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7 and 
7.8 of the London Plan (2016), policies SP02, SP10 and SP12 of the 
Tower Hamlets’ Core Strategy (2010) and policies, DM4, DM23, DM24, 
DM25, DM26, DM27 the Tower Hamlets’ Managing Development 
Document and the priorities and principles of the Limehouse Vision 
(Core Strategy 2010) which seek to deliver place-making of the highest 
quality in accordance with the principle of sustainable development, 
including preserving, protecting or enhancing heritage assets.

Reason 2 – overdevelopment and poor quality design

2. The proposed development exhibits poor quality design and 
demonstrable signs of overdevelopment by virtue of:

a) lack of privacy for the occupiers of the proposed development  
due to overlooking associated with inter-visibility between windows and 
balconies of the proposed residential dwellings;

b) the loss of street trees which provide significant landscape and 
visual amenity value;

Page 14



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

11

c) the proposal for a tall building in this location would fail to adhere to 
the principles of good design and place-making by virtue of its height 
and scale which would result in an unsympathetic built form that would 
not positively respond to and mediate with existing developments within 
the immediate surroundings. The detrimental townscape impacts result 
from the proposed height, scale and mass of the development which is 
set on a small, tightly confined site situated in a narrow street and set 
within an established lower scale of the adjoining housing estate and 
bounding conservation areas;

d) proposed density significantly above the Greater London Authority’s
density matrix guidance and the scheme would fail to demonstrate the
exceptional circumstances and design quality required to justify the
excessive density; and

e) the proposal provides insufficient child play space and poor quality
private amenity spaces for the proposed maisonettes and the ground
floor wheelchair accessible unit which will suffer from the overbearing
nature of the development including an undue sense of enclosure.

As such, the scheme would fail to provide a sustainable form of 
development in accordance with paragraphs 14, 17, 56 and 61 of the 
NPPF and would be contrary to the Development Plan, in particular 
policies 3.6, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6 and 7.7 and 7.8 of the London Plan (2015), 
policies SP02, SP06, SP10 and SP12 of the Tower Hamlets’ Core 
Strategy (2010) and policies, DM23, DM24, DM25, DM26 and DM27 
the Tower Hamlets’ Managing Development Document and the 
Borough’s vision for Limehouse, that taken as a whole, have an 
overarching objective of achieving place-making of the highest quality.

Reason 3 – lack of a legal agreement to mitigate the impacts of the proposed 
Development

3. No agreed planning obligations in the form of policy compliant financial 
and nonfinancial contributions have been secured to mitigate the 
impacts of the development. As a result, the proposal would fail to 
meet the requirements of policies SP02 and SP13 of the adopted Core 
Strategy (2010), policy 8.2 of the London Plan, the Planning 
Obligations SPD (April 2016) which seek to agree planning obligations 
between the Local Planning Authority and developers so as to mitigate, 
compensate and prescribe matters relating to the development.

7. OTHER PLANNING MATTERS 

None.

The meeting ended at 7.40 p.m. 

Page 15



DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE, 14/06/2017 SECTION ONE (UNRESTRICTED)

12

Chair, Councillor Marc Francis
Development Committee

Page 16



Guidance for Development Committee/Strategic Development Committee Meetings.

Who can speak at Committee meetings? 
Members of the public and Councillors may request to speak on applications for decision 
(Part 6 of the agenda). All requests must be sent direct to the Committee Officer shown on 
the front of the agenda by the deadline – 4pm one clear working day before the meeting.  
Requests should be sent in writing (e-mail) or by telephone detailing the name and contact 
details of the speaker and whether they wish to speak in support or against. Requests 
cannot be accepted before agenda publication. Speaking is not normally allowed on 
deferred items or applications which are not for decision by the Committee. 

The following may register to speak per application in accordance with the above rules:
Up to two objectors 
on a first come first 
served basis.

For up to three minutes each. 

Committee/Non 
Committee Members.

 For up to three minutes each - in support or against. 

Applicant/ 
supporters. 

This includes:
an agent or 
spokesperson. 

Members of the 
public in support  

Shall be entitled to an equal time to that given to any objector/s. 
For example:

 Three minutes for one objector speaking. 
 Six minutes for two objectors speaking.
 Additional three minutes for any Committee and non 

Committee Councillor speaking in objection. 

It shall be at the discretion of the applicant to allocate these 
supporting time slots. 

What if no objectors register to speak against an applicant for decision? 
The applicant or their supporter(s) will not be expected to address the Committee should 
no objectors register to speak and where Officers are recommending approval. However, 
where Officers are recommending refusal of the application and there are no objectors or 
members registered, the applicant or their supporter(s) may address the Committee for 3 
minutes.

The Chair may vary the speaking rules and the order of speaking in the interest of natural 
justice or in exceptional circumstances. 

Committee Members may ask points of clarification of speakers following their speech.  
Apart from this, speakers will not normally participate any further. Speakers are asked to 
arrive at the start of the meeting in case the order of business is changed by the Chair. If 
speakers are not present by the time their application is heard, the Committee may 
consider the item in their absence. 

This guidance is a précis of the full speaking rules that can be found on the Committee and 
Member Services webpage: www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee under Council 
Constitution, Part.4.8, Development Committee Procedural Rules. 

What can be circulated? 

Page 17

Agenda Item 3

http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee%20under%20Council%20Constitution,%20Part.4.8
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee%20under%20Council%20Constitution,%20Part.4.8


Should you wish to submit a representation or petition, please contact the planning officer 
whose name appears on the front of the report in respect of the agenda item. Any 
representations or petitions should be submitted no later than noon the working day before 
the committee meeting for summary in the update report that is tabled at the committee 
meeting. No written material (including photos) may be circulated at the Committee meeting 
itself by members of the public including public speakers.

How will the applications be considered? 
The Committee will normally consider the items in agenda order subject to the Chair’s 
discretion.  The procedure for considering applications for decision shall be as follows: 
Note: there is normally no further public speaking on deferred items or other planning 
matters

(1) Officers will announce the item with a brief description. 
(2) Any objections that have registered to speak to address the Committee 
(3) The applicant and or any supporters that have registered to speak to address 

the Committee 
(4) Committee and non- Committee Member(s) that have registered to speak to 

address the Committee 
(5) The Committee may ask points of clarification of each speaker after their 

address.
(6) Officers will present the report supported by a presentation. 
(7) The Committee will consider the item (questions and debate).
(8) The Committee will reach a decision.

Should the Committee be minded to make a decision contrary to the Officer 
recommendation and the Development Plan, the item will normally be deferred to a future 
meeting with a further Officer report detailing the implications for consideration.

How can I find out about a decision? 
You can contact Democratic Services the day after the meeting to find out the decisions. 
The decisions will also be available on the Council’s website shortly after the meeting. 

For queries on reports please contact the Officer named on the front of the report.
Deadlines.
To view the schedule of deadlines for meetings (including those for 
agenda papers and speaking at meetings) visit the agenda management 
timetable, part of the Committees web pages. 
Visit www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee - search for relevant 
Committee, then ‘browse meetings and agendas’ then ‘agenda 
management timetable’.

Scan this code to
view the
Committee 
webpages. 

The Rules of Procedures for the Committee are as follows:
 Development Committee Procedural Rules - Part 4.8 of the 

Council’s Constitution (Rules of Procedure).
 Terms of Reference for the Strategic Development Committee - 

Part 3.3.5 of the Council’s Constitution (Responsibility for 
Functions). 

 Terms of Reference for the Development Committee - Part 3.3.4 of 
the Council’s Constitution (Responsibility for Functions). 

Council’s 
Constitution 

Page 18

http://moderngov.towerhamlets.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=320
http://www.towerhamlets.gov.uk/committee


LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 (Section 97)
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN THE DRAFTING OF THE REPORTS UNDER ITEM 7

Brief Description of background papers: Tick if copy supplied for register: Name and telephone no. of holder:

See Individual reports 
See Individual reports 

Committee:
Development

Date:
9th August 2017

Classification: 
Unrestricted

Agenda Item No:

Report of: 
Corporate Director Place.

Originating Officer: 
Owen Whalley

Title: Planning Applications for Decision

Ref No:See reports attached for each item

Ward(s):See reports attached for each item

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 In this part of the agenda are reports on planning applications for determination by the 
Committee. Although the reports are ordered by application number, the Chair may reorder 
the agenda on the night. If you wish to be present for a particular application you need to be 
at the meeting from the beginning.

1.2 The following information and advice applies to all those reports.

2. FURTHER INFORMATION

2.1 Members are informed that all letters of representation and petitions received in relation to 
the items on this part of the agenda are available for inspection at the meeting.

2.2 Members are informed that any further letters of representation, petitions or other matters 
received since the publication of this part of the agenda, concerning items on it, will be 
reported to the Committee in an Addendum Update Report.

3. ADVICE OF HEAD OF LEGAL SERVICES

3.1 The relevant policy framework against which the Committee is required to consider 
planning applications comprises the Development Plan and other material policy 
documents. The Development Plan is:

 the London Plan 2011
 the Tower Hamlets Core Strategy Development Plan Document 2025 adopted September 

2010 
 the Managing Development Document adopted April 2013

3.2 Other material policy documents include the Council's Community Plan, supplementary 
planning documents, government planning policy set out in the National Planning Policy 
Statement and planning guidance notes and circulars.

3.3 Decisions must be taken in accordance with section 70(2) of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.  
Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 requires the Committee to have 
regard to the provisions of the Development Plan, so far as material to the application and 
any other material considerations. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase 
Act 2004 requires the Committee to make its determination in accordance with the 

Page 19

Agenda Item 5



Development Plan unless material planning considerations support a different decision 
being taken.

3.4 Under Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects listed 
buildings or their settings, the local planning authority must have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of architectural or historic 
interest it possesses.

3.5 Under Section 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990, in 
considering whether to grant planning permission for development which affects a 
conservation area, the local planning authority must pay special attention to the desirability 
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of the conservation area.

3.6 The Equality Act 2010 provides that in exercising its functions (which includes the functions 
exercised by the Council as Local Planning Authority), that the Council as a public authority 
shall amongst other duties have due regard to the need to-

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited under the Act;

(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

(c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

3.7 The protected characteristics set out in the Equality Act are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation.  
The Equality Act acknowledges that compliance with the duties set out may involve treating 
some persons more favourably than others, but that this does not permit conduct that would 
otherwise be prohibited under the Act.

3.8 In accordance with Article 31 of the Development Management Procedure Order 2010, 
Members are invited to agree the recommendations set out in the reports, which have been 
made on the basis of the analysis of the scheme set out in each report. This analysis has 
been undertaken on the balance of the policies and any other material considerations set 
out in the individual reports.

4. PUBLIC SPEAKING

4.1 The Council’s constitution allows for public speaking on these items in accordance with the 
rules set out in the constitution and the Committee’s procedures. These are set out at  the 
relevant Agenda Item. 

5. RECOMMENDATION

5.1 The Committee to take any decisions recommended in the attached reports.

Page 20



1

Committee:
Development 
Committee

Date:
9 August 2017

Classification: 
Unrestricted

Agenda Item Number:

Report of: 
Corporate Director of Place 

Case Officer:
Gareth Gwynne

Title: Planning Application

Ref No: PA/17/00250

Ward: Weavers 

1. APPLICATION DETAILS

Location: 114 -150 Hackney Road, London, E2 7QL

Existing Use: Primarily warehouse/ light manufacturing employment 
space (B1/B8 Use Class), a single 3 bedroom 
residential unit and vacant Public House (A4 Use 
Class) and retail shop (A1 Use Class)
 

Proposal: Mixed use redevelopment of site including part 
demolition, part retention, part extension of existing 
buildings alongside erection of complete new 
buildings ranging in height from four storeys to six 
storeys above a shared basement, to house a 
maximum of 9 residential units (Class C3), 12,600 
sqm (GEA) of employment floorspace (Class B1), 
1,340 sqm (GEA) of flexible office and retail 
floorspace at ground floor level (falling within Use 
Classes B1/A1-A5) and provision of 316 sqm (GEA) 
of Public House (Class A4), along with associated 
landscaping and public realm improvements, cycle 
parking provision, plant and storage

Drawing and documents: Refer to Appendix 1

Applicant: Tower Hackney Developments Limited

Ownership:                   D & J Simons Ltd, Robobond Ltd, London Power 
Networks PLC 

Historic Building: N/A

Conservation Area: Hackney Road 

Page 21

Agenda Item 5.1



2

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

2.1 Officers have considered the particular circumstances of this application against the 
provisions of the development plan and other material considerations including the 
Equalities Act as set out in this report, and recommend approval of planning 
permission.

2.2 In land use terms the principle of an office-led redevelopment of the site is 
consistent with development plan polices with the scheme providing the potential to 
bring net increase of 1,073 FTE jobs on site, as well as optimising the scale of 
development on the site in a manner that it enhances the retained heritage assets 
on the site and preserves the character and appearance of the Hackney Road 
Conservation Area. The heritage design outcome before Members is the product of 
lengthy negotiations between the developer and Officers resulting considerable 
design amendments compared to the earlier pre-application residential-led 
proposal.

2.3 The vacant Joiners Arms public house is recognised as a community infrastructure 
facility.  The proposed provision of a new Public House (A4) within the scheme is 
considered to meet the requirements of Policy DM8 Community Infrastructure and 
promote equality of opportunity pursuant to the Equalities Act, subject to a planning 
obligation to secure a first right of refusal upon the lease of the A4 unit to a LGBT+ 
operator. The ground floor area of the proposed A4 unit equals the total floorspace 
of the primary operational ground floor and basement storage area within the vacant 
Joiners Arms. Furthermore the general ground floor layout of the scheme as a 
whole also provides an opportunity for a lease on a larger unit should an LGBT+ or 
other A4 operator seek a larger Public House.  

2.4 The proposed ground floor flexible use retail/office spaces would provide public 
realm and streetscape improvements to Hackney Road, consistent with this street’s 
historic function as a commercially edged street frontage into the City. The scheme 
as a whole would meet the Mayor of London’s‘s City Fringe Opportunity Area 
objectives of bringing both office employment floorspace to the Shoreditch area (to 
meet the demand from the Tech City sector) and provide complementary flexible 
use spaces that lend themselves for occupation by cafes, bars and small retail 
outlets or by small and medium sized business enterprises.  Given the low vacancy 
rate within the Columbia Road shopping centre and the flourishing state of its street 
market it is not considered the proposed retail spaces would threaten town centre 
hierarchies subject to limits to overall quantum and individual floorspace sized of 
A1-A4 flexible use retail spaces.

2.5 In broad urban design, urban regeneration, place-making and heritage safeguarding 
terms the scheme is considered to respond well in architecturally. It draws and 
builds upon the existing built character and urban grain of the site and the Hackney 
Road Conservation Area more generally, notwithstanding the scheme would mark a 
significant increase in overall massing upon the site. 

2.6 It is acknowledged there are daylight impacts to a neighbouring terrace of 14 
houses located to the rear of the site. However, on balance, officers consider these 
impacts are acceptable when due weight is given to the public and regeneration 
benefits of the scheme. Furthermore the adverse daylight impacts do not impact 
upon the main living room spaces to the affected homes (being limited to impacts to 
kitchen and bedrooms).

Page 22



3

2.7 The scheme provides satisfactory new residential accommodation and raises no 
central concerns in respect of highways, transportation, sustainability agenda, 
principles of inclusive design and environmental health concerns.

 3 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to:

a) Prior completion of a legal agreement under Section 106 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended), to secure the following planning 
obligations: 

3.2 Financial Obligations: 

a) A contribution of £57,444 towards employment, skills, training for 
construction job opportunities; 

b) A contribution of £339,680  towards employment, skills, training for end 
phase job opportunities; 

c) Monitoring fee £1,500 (£500 per 106 Head of Terms requiring monitoring) 

Total: £398,624 

3.3 Non-financial Obligations:

d) Right of First Refusal Option for LGBT+ operator to take up a commercial 
lease upon the consented Public House (A4 Use Class) unit 

e) Owner agreeing to enter into a Section 278 Highways Agreement to gain 
improvements for pedestrians on footways surrounding site, and highway 
reconstruction.

f) Owner ceding for highway adoption under Section 72 of the Highways Act
  
g) Access to employment, involving:-

 Reasonable endeavours to gain minimum 20% local procurement.
 Reasonable endeavours to gain minimum 20% local labour in 

Construction.

h) Delivery of 7 newly created apprenticeships on-site during construction 
phase.

i) Delivery of 3 newly created on site apprenticeships at end phase 

j) Reasonable endeavours to keep existing architects as project architects 
through to building completion; and

k) Owner to enter into a Car Free Agreement

3.4 That the Corporate Director of Place is delegated authority to negotiate and approve 
the legal agreement indicated above.

3.5 That the Corporate Director of place is delegated authority to issue the planning 
permission and impose conditions and informatives to secure the following matters:

Page 23



4

3.6 Conditions 

Compliance Conditions 

1. Three year time limit
2. Development to be built in accordance with approved plans
3. Requirement to maintain a Public House (A4 Land Use) at ground floor. 
4. Limits on total quantum of A1 operation on site, A2, A3, and A4 and cap on 

maximum size of any individual A1, A3 or A4 and total number of A3 and A4 
units 

5. Flexible Use (B1/A1-A4) shall be closed and cleared of customers by 23:30 
(except for 23:00 on Sundays and bank holidays) and shall not open before 
7:00 every day. The A4 use class unit shall be closed and cleared of customers 
by 00:30 on Fridays and Saturdays and 23:30 on all other days. 

6. No rooftop plant shall be visible from ground level 
7. Noise limit on plant 
8. No mechanical externally ventilated extract system for A3 or A4 units without 

prior submission of details and written agreement  
9. During hours of daylight, all occupants of the consented B1 spaces shall have 

access to Level 5 roof top terrace
10. Compliance with GLA Non Road Mobile Machinery Requirements
11. Bin Storage Areas to be designed in accordance with BS5906:2005 and Bins to 

BS EN 840
12. Flexible Use (B1/A1-A4) units to store all refuse within units and only present 

bins to pavement at time of collection  
13. Maintain a minimum 60% of the approved glazed frontage with unobstructed 

views into the individual flexible use units  

Pre-commencement

14. Land contamination investigations study
15. Piling Method Statement
16. Construction Environmental Management Plan, including details of 

opportunities for a co-ordinated approach to CEMP strategies in relation to the 
scheme at No 96-137 Hackney Road

17. Recording and salvage of materials / features for reuse
18. Building Historic Recording Survey including photographic survey

Pre-commencement excluding demolition phase 

19. Impact studies upon existing water supply
20. Details of drainage and sustainable water management strategy
21. Landscaping including details of all external lighting, CCTV, external street 

furniture, samples of all public realm hard landscaping materials  
22: Detail of Clean Air Mechanical Ventilation to residential Units
23. Safe storage of historic directors Board Room panelling  

Prior to commencement of relevant works 

24. Details of secure cycle stands, changing room/shower and locker facilities for 
cyclists

25. Samples of all external materials and (1:20 minimum) façade detail construction 
level drawings including detail of the junction of materials  

26 Noise Mitigation Implementation Strategy 

Page 24



5

Pre-Occupation 

27. Achievement of BREEAM Excellence rating 
28. Details of residential privacy design measures  
29. Management Plan for roof top terraces including control on hours 
30. Facsimile copies or return of Joiners Arm decorative panel to front façade  
31. Achievement of Secure by Design Accreditation for all residential units, to the 

commercial units and A4 Public House
32. Prior to occupation of each of the ground floor flexible use units details of 

‘shopfront’ strategy and signage
33. Prior to occupation of each of the ground floor flexible use units Delivery and 

Service Management Plan (including waste collection)
34. Operational Management Plan for A4 including noise breakout mitigation 

strategy and A4 customer management plan 
35. Travel Plan for B1 spaces
36. Delivery and Service Management Plan (including waste collection) for the B1 

office spaces 
37. All residential units shall be built in accordance BS 8233 (2014) acoustic and 

noise insulation standard, with results of compliance testing provided pre-
occupation

38. Evidence the wheelchair adapted residential unit has achieved Building 
Regulations M4 (2) and the communal lift is also fully consistent with wheelchair 
accessibility, prior to occupation of residential units 

39. Approval of Public Art commission for site with art installation installed prior to 
occupation of site   

 
Post Completion

40. Submission of ‘as built calculations for energy reduction
41. Submission of an acoustic compliance assessment

3. PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS

Site, Surroundings and Designations

3.1. The site occupies the bulk of an urban block which is bounded to the west/ 
northwest by Hackney Road, bounded to the south east by Pelter Street, bounded 
to the northeast by Diss Street and bounded to the south by Strout’s Place.  The 
urban block in its entirety occupies an area of approximately 4,100sq.m with the 
development site itself occupying an area of approximately 3,400sq.m.  The 
development site excludes two building plots within the urban block namely a GP 
surgery that occupies the corner of Strout’s Place and Pelter Street and No. 152 
Hackney Road on the corner with Diss Street.  

3.2. The buildings on site are a mix of 2, 3 and 4 storey buildings.  The upper storey 
frontages on Hackney Road follow the historic Georgian building line, set in front of 
this historic building line are a set of single storey retail/commercial frontages.  

3.3. The buildings on site are predominantly a mix of industrial buildings and domestic 
buildings (the latter re-used for industrial/warehousing purposes).  D J Simon’s Ltd a 
manufacturer and supplier of picture frames, mirrors and mouldings that occupies 
Nos. 130-150 and this forms the largest single plot within the block.  No. 116 - 118 
Hackney Road is the Joiner’s Arms Public House, an A4 Use establishment that 
closed down in January 2015. 

Page 25



6

Figure 1:  Aerial photograph with site (set within a shaded area) looking south   

3.4. The site falls within the ‘Place’ of Shoreditch, as designated by the Local Plan.  The 
Core Strategy vision for Shoreditch is for it to reinforce and reflect the historic 
qualities of Shoreditch to shape future growth.  Principles of development for 
Shoreditch include protecting heritage in conservation areas, retaining and 
enhancing the traditional street pattern and medium-rise character of the area and 
retaining and encouraging the vibrant mix of uses of small shops, businesses and 
enterprise spaces along major routes.

Page 26



7

Figure 2: Location Plan - Site edged in thick outline. 

3.5. The whole of the site is located within the Borough’s Hackney Road Conservation 
Area and stands opposite the London Borough of Hackney, Hackney Road 
Conservation Area.  The nearest statutory listed building is the recently listed Ye 
Olde Axe situated less than 75m to the south west of the site which fronts onto the 
north side of Hackney Road. 

3.6. The Joiner’s Arms Public House was designated in March 2015 an Asset of 
Community Value (ACV) by the Borough, following an application submitted by the 
Friends of the Joiners Arms and it remains on the Council’s list of ACVs. An ACV 
designation is not a planning designation but is capable of of being a material 
planning consideration and the National Planning Policy Framework paragraph 70 
considers the need to avoid the loss of community assets. 

3.7. Most of the site is classified as having a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) 
of 6. With the remaining section a PTAL rating of 5.  Hoxton Overground Station is 
approximately 250m walking distance from the site. The site lies within the defined 
inner core of Mayor of London’s City Fringe Opportunity Framework Area. The site 
is exempt from Class J GPDO conversion to residential.  

3.8. The site is not in the Central Activity Zone (CAZ) or a designated town centre.  
Within the Borough the nearest designated town centre is Columbia Road, that also 
supports a popular street market.  The next nearest  is Hoxton Street Local 
Shopping Centre approximately 400m to the northwest of the site, located in London 
Borough of Hackney. 

Page 27



8

PROPOSAL 

3.9. The proposal involves:- 

a. Part demolition, part retention of existing buildings on site, the construction of 
a series of vertical extensions set over and to the rear of existing buildings 
and the construction of new buildings.  The tallest building rises to 6 storeys 
which is equal to a maximum height of 25.3m (compared to existing tallest 
building on-site rising to 14m);

b. The loss of 1 existing 3 bedroom unit and provision of 9 new residential flats 
consisting of 3 x1 bedroom flats, 5 x2 bedroom flats and 1 x3 bedroom flat; 

c. Formation of 11,397sq.m (GIA) of B1 office employment office floorspace 
(primarily located above ground floor leading to a minimum net uplift of 
3,281sq.m employment space on-site compared to as existing).     

d. Provision of a new A4 (Public House) unit of 286sq.m (GIA).

e. Formation of 1,296sq.m of ground floor flexible use office/ retail space 
(A1/A2/A3/A4/B1 Use Classes) with floor area maximum caps (secured by 
planning condition) to limit at any one time the total quantum of shops (A1 use 
class) floor space to 650sq.m, Professional services (A2 use class)  to 
650.sq.m, restuarant/ cafe (A3 use classs) floor space to 500sq.m,  and 
drinking establishments (A4 use class) floor space to 500sq.m. The maximum 
size of any single A1/Ar2/A3 unit will be no  greater than 300sq.m and no 
individual A3 or A4 unit to be greater than 400sq.m. 

Figure 3:  CGI of Proposal (looking northeast along Hackney Road with Strout’s 
Place frontage on right side of image)

Page 28



9

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 

On site

3.10 None relevant to the current planning application. Other than extensive series of 
pre-application discussions were held between applicant and their design team and 
LBTH planning officers (beginning in autumn 2014) culminating in the planning 
application that is the subject of this report. 

Neighbouring Sites

97-137 Hackney Road (opposite the site)

3.11 London Borough of Hackney granted planning permission (Ref 2015/3455) on 24th 

April 2017 for erection of 3 buildings ranging in height from 5 storeys to 9 storeys 
set above shared basement with a mix of uses including 184 residential units (Class 
C3), 13,334 sqm (GIA) of employment floorspace (Use Class B1), and 4,243 sqm 
(GIA) of flexible commercial/retail space at basement and ground floor levels (falling 
within Use Classes A1-A4, and B1) which can comprise no more than 1,500 sqm 
(GIA) of A1 floorspace, no more than 500 sqm (GIA) of A2 floorspace, no more than 
1,500 sqm (GIA) of A3 floorspace, no more than 1,000 sqm (GIA) of A4 floorspace, 
and no more than 1,400 sqm (GIA) of B1 floorspace.  The applicant was Regal 
Homes who are joint venture partners to the planning application that is the subject 
of this report.

4. POLICY FRAMEWORK

4.1. The Council in determining this application has the following main statutory duties 
to perform:

 To determine the application in accordance with the development plan unless 
other material considerations indicate otherwise (Section 38(6) of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004);

 To have regard to local finance considerations so far as material to the  
application, and to any other material considerations (Section 70 (2) Town & 
Country Planning Act 1990);

 Pay special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of the Hackney Road Conservation Area (Section 72 
(1) Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990);

 To discharge the public sector equality duty.

4.2. For details of the status of relevant policies see the front sheet for “Planning 
Applications for Determination” agenda items. The following policies are relevant to 
the application:

4.3. Central Government Policy/Guidance 

National Planning Policy Framework (March 2012) (NPPF)
National Planning Practice Guidance 

4.4. The London Plan – (March 2016)

Page 29



10

2.9: Inner London
2.13: Opportunity Areas and Intensification Areas
2.18: Green Infrastructure
3.1: Ensuring Equal Life Chances for All
3.3: Increasing Housing Supply
3.4: Optimising Housing Supply
3.5: Quality and Design of Housing Developments
3.16: Protection and Enhancement of Social Infrastructure 
4.1: Developing London’s Economy
4.2: Offices
4.3: Mixed Use development and offices
4.7: Retail and Town Centre Development
4.8: Supporting a successful and diverse retail sector 
4.9: Small Shops
4.10: New and Emerging Economic Sectors
5.1: Climate Change Mitigation
5.2: Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions
5.3: Sustainable Design and Construction
5.5: Decentralised Energy Networks
5.6: Decentralised Energy in Development Proposals
5.7: Renewable Energy
5.8: Innovative Energy Technologies
5.9: Overheating and Cooling
5.10: Urban Greening
5.11: Green Roofs and Development Site Environs
5.12: Flood Risk Management
5.13: Sustainable Drainage
5.14: Water Quality and Wastewater Infrastructure
5.15: Water Use and Supplies
5.17: Waste Capacity
5.18 Construction, Excavation and Demolition Waste
5.19: Hazardous Waste
5.21: Contaminated Land
6.3: Assessing the Effects of Development on Transport Capacity
6.9: Cycling
6.10: Walking
6.11: Congestion and traffic flow
6.12: Road Network Capacity
6.13: Parking
7.1: Lifetime Neighbourhood
7.2: An Inclusive Environment
7.3: Designing Out Crime
7.4: Local Character
7.5: Public Realm
7.6: Architecture
7.8: Heritage Assets and archaeology
7.9: Access to Nature and Biodiversity
7.14: Improving Air Quality
7.15: Reducing Noise and Enhancing Soundscapes
7.19: Biodiversity and Access to Nature
8.2: Planning Obligations
8.3: Community Infrastructure Levy

4.5. Tower Hamlets Core Strategy (2010) (CS)

Page 30



11

SP01: Refocusing on our Town Centres
SP02: Urban Living for Everyone
SP03: Creating Healthy and Liveable Neighbourhoods
SP05 Dealing with Waste
SP06: Delivering Successful Employment Hubs
SP09: Creating Attractive and Safe Streets and Spaces
SP10: Creating Distinct and Durable Places
SP12: Delivering Place-making

4.6. LBTH Managing Development Document (2013) (MDD) 

DM0: Delivering Sustainable Development
DM1: Development with the Town Centre Hierarchy
DM2: Local Shops
DM3: Delivering Homes
DM4: Housing Standards and Amenity Space
DM8: Community Infrastructure 
DM9: Improving Air Quality
DM10: Delivering Open space
DM11: Living Buildings and Biodiversity
DM13: Sustainable Drainage
DM14: Managing Waste
DM15: Local Job Creation and Investment 
DM16: Office Locations
DM20: Supporting a Sustainable Transport Network
DM21: Sustainable Transport of Freight
DM22 Parking
DM23: Streets and Public Realm
DM24: Place Sensitive Design
DM25: Amenity
DM27: Heritage and Historic Environment
DM29: Achieving A Zero-Carbon Borough and Addressing Climate Change
DM30: Contaminated Land

4.7 LBTH Supplementary Planning Documents

 Planning Obligations SPD (2016) 

4.8 Mayor of London Supplementary Planning Guidance 

 Housing SPG (2016)
 Sustainable Design & Construction SPG (2014)
 Social Infrastructure SPG (May 2015)
 Accessible London: Achieving an Inclusive Environment SPG (2014)
 Control of Dust and Emissions During Construction and Demolition (2014) Best 

Practice Guide
 Shaping Neighbourhoods: Character and Context SPG (June 2014) 
 City Fringe (Tech City) Opportunity Area Planning Framework (December 2015)
 Draft Culture and the Night Time Economy SPG – draft for public consultation 

(April 2017) 

4.9 Other Relevant Documents

Page 31



12

 London Borough of Tower Hamlets, Hackney Road Conservation Area Character 
Appraisal and Management Guidelines (November 2009) 

 London Borough of Hackney, Hackney Road Conservation Area Appraisal (July 
2009) 

 Conservation Area Designation, Appraisal and Management, Historic England 
Good Practice Planning Advice Note 1 (2016)

 Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment, Historic 
England Good Practice Planning Advice Note 2 (2015)

 The Setting of Heritage Assets, Historic England, Good Practice Planning Advice 
Note 3 (2015)

 Community Right to Bid: Non-statutory Advice Note for Local Authorities (Dept 
Communities and Local Government, October 2-12) 

 House of Commons Library: Assets of Community Value. Briefing Paper (April 
2017) 

 GLA London Employment Sites Database (May 2016)
 Homes and Density Guide, 3rd Edition November 2015) Homes and Communities 

Agency   
 GBTQ+ Cultural Infrastructure in London: Night Venues, 2006–present”  

published by UCL Urban Laboratory (July 2016)

5. CONSULTATION RESPONSES

5.1. The views of the Directorate of Development & Renewal are expressed in the 
MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS section below.

5.2. The following were consulted regarding the application:

Internal Consultees

Highways and Transportation

5.3. The residential development should be car free as site has excellent access to 
public transport.  Given site constraints accessible car parking will need to be met 
through on-street provision.   

5.4. With regard to servicing, the scheme is proposing to set back the building on 
Hackney Road itself and provide an inset service bay behind the carriageway. This 
service bay has been agreed by LBTH Parking Services and TfL.   This service bay 
shall operate only outside of the hours of the bus lane (i.e. 10am – 4pm with 
vehicles only being allowed to stop for a limited time with no return within 1 hour). 
The applicant is willing to give up some of their land for adoption to achieve a 
continuous 2m strip of footway behind the new loading bay. This can be done under 
a section 72 Highways Act and forms part of the requested s278 agreement.  The 
width of the footway in Strout’s Place is below standard for pedestrian movement.  
Highways preference is for footway to be widened to bring it up to standard. 
However DM planners have requested keeping the existing building wall for heritage 
reasons making widening the footway impossible.  Highways require a S278 
Agreement to improve the highway around the site in general and in particular 
remedial and improvement works to Stroud’s Place. The applicant has agreed to put 
in a raised table area to allow pedestrians to cross from either side to improve the 
situation for pedestrians.

5.5. The number of cycle spaces meets the London Plan. 20% of the stands need to be 
provided as Sheffield stands.

Page 32



13

5.6. In summary highways have no overriding objection subject to:
 Securing an appropriate Section 278 agreement to gain highway 

improvements for pedestrians on footways surrounding site. 
 Provision of inset service bay set behind the bus lane. 
 Owner ceding land for highway adoption (to make a public footway), under 

Section 72 of the Highways Act
 Car Free Agreement for future residents (secured through Section 16 of the 

Greater London Council (General Powers) Act 1974)
 Details of cycle stores and cycle stands

Energy & Sustainability Officer 

5.7. The applicant submitted an energy strategy that follows the broad principles of the 
energy hierarchy.  The current proposals are anticipated to achieve a reduction in 
CO2 emissions in excess of 45%. 

5.8. For the non-residential elements, the applicant is proposing an air source heat 
pump for the space heating and cooling loads and providing solar panels.  No 
objection to scheme subject to planning conditions to secure as built calculation 
details of energy reduction measures and final completion certificate demonstrating 
achievement of BREEAM excellence for non-residential parts of the scheme.

5.9. Licensing Team 

5.10. The public house (The Joiners Arms) premises licence is still in existence although 
the premises are currently closed. These premises are currently licenced for:

 Sun-Wed 12:00-02:00hrs
 Thurs 12:00-03:00hrs
 Fri-Sat 12:00-04:00hrs

with an additional 30 minutes for drinking up time.

5.11. The premise was subject to a police review of the licence in September 2013 
whereby a number of conditions were imposed to uphold the licensing objectives. If 
there is a substantial change to the premises a new premises licence would be 
required to be applied for, as would be the case if the public house was relocated 
within the wider planning application site. 

5.12. There is no guarantee that a new premises licence or a variation to the existing 
premises licence will be granted especially if there are subsequently residents living 
above/nearby and representations are made. Soundproofing needs to be taking into 
consideration to prevent public nuisance.

External Consultees

London Borough of Hackney

5.13. No comments received.

CAMRA (Campaign for Real Ale) 

5.14. CAMRA resist the unnecessary loss of pubs. “The Joiners was a sound viable 
business which was profitable and fulfilled a community social role as well as being 
an important part of the London LGBTQ+ scene. It fell victim to developer greed 
when the freehold was sold to the present applicant who promptly shut the pub.  

Page 33



14

The new A4 use being proposed will never and can never be equivalent to the 
cherished pub that we have lost.  Sadly the planning system is largely incapable of 
distinguishing the fabric of an historic pub building from the land use.

5.15. The reprovision of A4 space is nothing but a developer ploy in order for decision 
makers like you to be able to justify their lucrative schemes by describing them as 
"broadly acceptable in planning terms". I realise you are bound by the agreed 
development plan and any regional and national policy but sadly we see this as the 
deliberate destruction of a pub with the replacement simply being a cynical sop to 
planning policy. 

5.16. The Borough consented to the loss of the historic Top of the Morning (formerly 
Mitford Castle) in Victoria Park on the basis that a new "pub" would be provided. 
This building as completed is quite unsuitable for pub use. CAMRA fear the same 
will happen here at the Joiners.  

5.17. The problems for the long term viability of the proposed "pub" here at the Joiners 
are:
1. Split planning unit meaning only leasehold is available for the pub. Many of 

the best pub operators are interested in freehold premises only. 
2. Lack of storage and ancillary accommodation. 
3. Local residential co-located leading to noise complaints and restrictions on 

licence hours and other aspects of business operation. 
4. Cellar space wholly inadequate. How will beer and other stock get into the 

cellar? 
5. No evidence of cellar cooling apparatus 
6. No details of a kitchen area to enable pub to serve food, 
7. Could not see a kitchen on the drawings which would preclude serving food 
8. No smoking area. 

5.18. The developer is attempting to sweeten the Council and the LGBTQ+ community 
here and asking the Council to support this destruction of their beloved pub.  Our 
view is that you should resist and insist that the existing Joiners is saved. You will 
never see anything like the equivalent venue on that site and I should be jolly 
surprised if you get any practical A4 use at all if this scheme goes ahead”

Metropolitan Police Crime Prevention Design Officer 

5.19. Reported crime figures, within a 1 mile radius of the site, are higher than the 
average crime rate for London as a whole.  Designing Out Crime Officers met with 
the architects in January 2017 to discuss the specification and standards required to 
achieve separate Secured by Design certification for the residential and commercial 
aspects of this development.  A4 Unit advised to achieve its standalone Secure by 
Design accreditation given its very bespoke requirements

5.20. Applicant advised to secure a series of recommendations and notes made to the 
developer including use of:-  
 P1A laminated glass to all windows at ground floor, Fob access to all gates 

and main entrances, PIR lighting through refuse and bike stores
 Advised against brick external structure as aids burglars gain access to 

residential. However, if this design is retained recommend all accessible 
windows and patio doors are of PAS24:2016 standard reinforced with P1A 
Laminate (BSEN 356:2000) as a minimum.

 Residential Internal Cycle Storage Area - recommend a door lock to 
PAS24:2012, an internal thumb lock, internal PIR lighting, bicycle secure 

Page 34



15

ground mounted anchors that meet ‘Sold Secure’ Silver standard and a 
Management Plan that restricts access to residents without cycles

• Commercial Basement Cycle Storage Area - Fob access control to the cycle 
store via a single secure door set that meets PAS24:2012. Bicycle secure 
ground mounted anchors that meet ‘Sold Secure’ standard.

• External Visitor Cycle Storage - Cycle stands should be securely ground 
mounted into concrete, facilitate 3 points of locking and adhere to Sold Secure 
Standard or LPS1175.

• 5th Floor Communal Roof Top Area - recommend introduction of a 
Management Plan that stipulates the type of activities that can take place 
within this area, including time restrictions. Windows overlooking this area 
should be P1A laminated toughened glass on the outer panel.  

5.21. With respect of proposed A4 Use a set of observations made including:-
 Queuing - Allowance should be made to accommodate a queue system which 

minimises the need for customers to queue unsupervised in a public space..
 Door Supervisors - Where door supervisors are to be used, there should be 

sufficient space in the doorway for them to operate safely, without causing 
congestion. 

 A single public entrance to the premises is preferred. 
 Smoking Area - recommend that a supervised, open-air area is provided that is 

not located in the general public domain.  

Friends of Joiners Arms 

5.22. The two extended letters of objection  have been summarised as follows: 

5.23. Hold a fundamental objection to a proposal that replaces the existing Joiners Arms 
building in its entirety.  Have doubts about the long term intentions/commitment of 
applicant to providing a Public House to serve the LGBTQUI+ community on site 
given the developer’s decision to close down the Joiners and the developer’s 
objection to the ACV designation. The Joiners Arms served as a safe space for the 
LGBQUI+ community, such safe places are at risk in the Borough and across 
London.  The Joiners Arms provided for broader cultural expression beyond the 
confines of a Public House. The applicants Heritage Statement makes no 
assessment of the social value of the Joiner’s Arms, one of the oldest surviving 
LGBTQI+ venue buildings. Consider the scheme would not preserve or enhance the 
conservation area. 

5.24. No evidence that an Equality Impact Assessment has been carried out regarding 
this development application, and specifically the closure and enforced loss of an 
LGBTQI+ community asset.

5.25. Proposal would see the demolition of an ACV which will not be reinstated or re-
provided elsewhere, a requirement of Local Plan Policy DM8 on Community 
Infrastructure. Proposal does not protect the community facilities, specifically the 
LGBTQI+ community facilities.

5.26. Consider the proposal, with its lack of protection for the Joiners Arms as an 
LGBTQI+ facility, to directly contravene the guidance of the NPPF. The proposal 
does not “plan positively for the provision and use of… community facilities (such 
as… meeting places…)…to enhance the sustainability of communities” in 
accordance with Paragraph 70 of the NPPF. Nor does the proposal “guard against 
the unnecessary loss of valued facilities and services, particularly where this would 

Page 35



16

reduce the community’s ability to meet its day-to-day needs.”  This proposal is also 
in direct contravention of The London Plan, specifically Policy 3.1 - Paragraph B 
‘Planning Decisions’ - “Development proposals should protect and enhance facilities 
and services that meet the needs of particular groups and communities. Proposals 
involving loss of these facilities should be resisted.”

5.27. Query whether London Borough of Hackney was consulted on scheme.  Consider 
Georgian Group and Historic England should be consulted on scheme.

5.28. Consider scheme does not allow for the operation of a viable late-licence pub, a 
view shared by CAMRA. Operational concerns relate to: lack of storage and 
ancillary accommodation; lack of cellar space; lack of off-street smoking area 
leading to increased likelihood of noise complaints and licensing restrictions 
resulting from proximity to new and existing residential developments

5.29. The Friends of the Joiners envisioned the future use of the venue to include an 
LGBTQI+ community space operating separately to its function as a pub with late 
licence and included this in the successful ACV application. The planned 
development makes this aspiration impossible to realise.

5.30. Without prejudicing to our basic objection to the scheme were the scheme approved 
we seek a set of reasonable conditions are imposed summarised as follows:
 A4 unit is only let to operators who are able to demonstrate they meet the 7 

criteria for defining an LGBTQI+ space as agreed by the Queer Spaces 
Network21, to the satisfaction of Borough, GLA and local LGBTQI+ community 
representatives 

 Leasehold for the A4 unit is set at 80% of the open market rate with a minimum 
leasehold of 20 years

 A4 unit is at least equal to original floorspace of the Joiners Arms including 
calculation for the existing basement and ancillary accommodation space 

 Agent for Change noise principles must be adhered to, on the understanding 
that, as a continuation of the original Joiners Arms, the A4 unit pre-dates any 
subsequent development (including parallel residential development in London 
Borough of Hackney)

 The plans for the A4 unit should be amended so that guaranteed and on-going 
access is granted to an outdoors area away from Hackney Road

 Developer agree to a significant rent-free period of 6-12 months to allow for set-
up of a viable operation

 Developer provide the A4 unit to an agreed fit-out specification to ensure it is fit 
for purpose as a viable pub

 Protection of A4 Unit for the use LGBTQI+ community in perpetuity 
Controls placed on the occupation of the remainder of the development, until 
the A4 unit meets the needs of LGBTQI+,as set in the sought obligation above.

5.31. (Officer Comment: For schemes of this type with no designated heritage assets on 
site Historic England have set out to the Borough they do not wish to be consulted. 
The nature of the works and historic significance of the site similarly did not warrant 
Georgian Group being consulted upon scheme. London Borough of Hackney were 
consulted on scheme)  

Mayor of London Night Time Czar

5.32. The Mayor has pledged to make safeguarding London’s night-time economy and 
culture a core priority. Protecting LGBT+ venues is a key part of this. They 

Page 36



17

contribute to London’s economy, generate stronger and more resilient communities 
and are vital for many people’s freedom of expression.   London has lost a quarter 
of its pubs and half of its nightclubs over the last ten years.  A new University 
College of London (UCL) report shows that London’s LGBT+ venues are in crisis, 
with a 58% loss of spaces in the past decade. One of the hardest-hit boroughs is 
Tower Hamlets, which has lost 73% of its LGBT+ venues since 2006.

5.33. Despite LGBT+ venues often being thriving and successful businesses, UCL’s 
report finds that they are closing because of external pressures such as large-scale 
developments.  The report specifically highlights the closure of The Joiner’s Arms as 
one of several high-profile LGBT+ venues to close in recent years. Before it closed, 
The Joiner’s Arms was a much-loved and long-running late night LGBT+ venues 
that saw thousands of people pass through its doors each year. The Mayor and I 
want to ensure that London is a city where minority communities are able to meet 
and socialise in a safe space, and where their heritage is protected.  In order to 
stem closures of LGBT+ spaces the Mayor has instructed me to make protecting 
LGBT+ venues an urgent priority by acting as a mediator between venue owners, 
and developers and pub companies, and reaching out to venues in trouble to offer 
support from City Hall. I have been already working closely with a number of venues 
and community groups in London, including The Friends of the Joiner’s Arms.

5.34. I hope that Tower Hamlets is able to enable the re-opening of The Joiner’s Arms as 
an LGBT+ venue that can act as a catalyst for the local economy and the wider 
borough.

Public Consultation 

5.35. A total of 241 planning notification letters were sent to nearby properties. The 
application proposal was also publicised by way of four site notices and a press 
notice.

5.36. Written representations have been received from 33 individuals and groups 
including the Friends of Joiners Arms.  All 33 of the written representations provide 
objections to the scheme.  

5.37. 29 of the written representations set out reasons of objection to the scheme that 
overlap with the reasons of objection set out by the Friends of the Joiners. Of the 
other representations one comes from an immediate neighbour to the site living in 
Vaughan Estate who objects on grounds of substantial reduction in sunlight/ 
daylight to two bedrooms in home, resulting from the obstruction provided by the 
scheme’s proposing height and massing.

5.38. Another representation was received from a neighbour who lives close by who 
welcomes the proposals as a whole with the retention of employment space, the 
retention of a public house, improved public realm and developer’s willingness to 
move away from their original conception of site clearance to a scheme that retains 
much of the historic fabric of the site. However sets out concerns over the 
community consultation events and processes and an objection over the height and 
massing of the north flank of the new building facing Diss Street and its dominating 
effect in a series of streetviews. The objector states this impact would not be 
mitigated by the proposed public art on a flank wall. The neighbour also request the 
lost external decorative panels on the Joiners Arms should be returned (or accurate 
replicates made), similarly the fine internal wooden room panels that remain within 
the furniture making complex should be reused on-site as part of the redevelopment 
scheme.

Page 37



18

5.39. A previous Director of the Joiners Arms who runs LGBT events in the Ye Olde Axe  
raises concerns:
 over the impact the proposed A4 could have in connection with competition to 

LGBT events he operates in Ye Olde Axe (Officer comment: not a material 
planning consideration);

 over the internal layout drawing prepared by the architects for the A4 unit as 
illustrative only;; and

 maintains an objection in respect of the need for full fit out costs for any pub to 
be covered by the developer.  

6 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS

6.1 The main planning considerations for an application are set our below and dealt with  
the following sections of the report (sections in bracket).  

 Land Use (7)
 Design and Heritage  (8)
 Amenity - Impacts to Neighbours (9)
 Amenity - proposed scheme(10) 
 Highways and Transportation  (11)
 Equalities (12)

6.2 A series of other material considerations including environmental (air quality, flood 
risk, land contamination, energy, bio-diversity) and human rights are reported in 
section 13 to this report.  

7.0 LAND USE

Employment Use  

7.1 Approximately 91% of the existing (9,394sq.m) floor space on site fails within 
employment use class (B1 or B8).  The scheme proposes to retain employment land 
use as the main land use on site in the form of a minimum 11,937sq.m of B1 use 
office floor space.  The scheme proposes to retain at minimum over 80% of the land 
use on site as employment space in the form of B1 offices.  

7.2 The site is located within the inner core of City Fringe Opportunity Area Planning 
Framework (OAPF) as defined by the London Plan.  The inner core to the City 
Fringe OAPF is where demand for office space is forecast to be highest.  Paragraph 
3.9 of the City Fringe OAPF sets out that where new development involves the 
demolition of existing employment floor space it should seek to re-provide to least 
the same quantum and support an appropriate overall balance between 
employment and residential floor space.

7.3 At the local level objective SO16 of the Core Strategy seeks to deliver a range and 
mix of employment uses, sites and types in the most appropriate and accessible 
locations across the Borough.  

7.5 Policy DM15 of the Local Plan states “development should not result in the loss of 
active and viable employment uses” unless it is unsuitable for continued 
employment use due to its location, viability, accessibility, size and condition or a 
two year active marketing exercise has been undertaken.  Policy DM15 also states 
“development which is likely to adversely impact on or displace and existing 

Page 38



19

business must find a suitable replacement accommodation within the borough 
unless it can be shown that the needs of the business are better met elsewhere.” 

7.6 D J Simons own and occupy the site. Their business is already in the process of 
preparing to relocate to northeast London for operational reasons. A key constraint 
of the existing building is its inability to accommodate deliveries from large vehicles. 
D&J Simons undertook an extensive review of alternative locations both within and 
outside of the Borough. They were unable to identify and secure suitable alternative 
accommodation within the Borough given their specific operational requirements 
and due to strong competition for sites from developers seeking to deliver higher 
value uses such as residential. 

7.7 Some parts of the existing buildings on site that house employment activities are in 
a poor state of repair.  Existing realised employment density on site is low (40-45 
Full Time Equivalents) a function of the particularities of the existing business with 
much of the site serving warehouse storage space.  Based upon GLA’s London 
Employment Sites Database (LESD) figures it is estimated the schemes proposed 
B1 allocated floor space could provide a potential 1011 net new office jobs, plus an 
estimated minimum 62 potential FTE jobs from the flexible use and A4 spaces.   
Implementation of the scheme would represent a major uplift in total number of jobs 
on-site and set alongside the opportunities the schemes provides to deliver 
employment spaces well suited for occupancy by small and medium enterprises it is 
considered this office led redevelopment of the site is consistent with land use 
Policies SP016 and DM15 of the Local Plan, Policies 2.9, 2.13, 4.1, 4.2 and 4.3 of 
the London Plan and the employment space enhancement objectives set out in 
Mayor of London’s City Fringe OAPF.

Residential Use, Mix and Quality

7.8 The provision of housing is a policy objective at a national, London-wide and local 
level.  NPPF Paragraph 50 supports the delivery of a wide choice of high quality 
homes, widening opportunities for home ownership and creating sustainable, 
inclusive and mixed communities.  Local Plan Core Strategy Policy SPO2 (2.a) 
requires new housing development to optimise the use of land. London Plan Policy 
3.4 ‘Optimising Housing Potential’ sets out that planning decisions need to take 
account of local context.  Local Plan Strategic Objective 23 promotes a Borough of 
well designed, sustainable and robust buildings that contribute and enrich the local 
environment and contribute to the overall quality of life.  

7.9 The scheme would provide a net increase of 8 residential units on site.  One 
existing three bedroom unit would be lost but this would be offset by a new three 
bedroom set alongside provision of three one bedroom units and five two bedroom 
units.  The bedroom mix assessed against Policy SP02 and DM3 of the Local Plan 
overprovides 2 bedroom units (55% provision against 30% target) and 
underprovides one bedroom at 33% and larger family sized units at 11%, against 
target of 50% and 20% respectively.  Given the low number of total units and the 
site constraints including working with existing buildings of heritage significance this 
proposed bedroom mix is considered acceptable.  

7.10 The scheme provides 9 new residential flats set over three upper floor with access 
via a dedicated private residential courtyard from Strouts Place  The residential 
units would benefit from a communal private courtyard, leading off that would be the 
entrance to the stairs and lift to the flats, plus a separate door of the courtyard to the 
refuse store and cycle storage room.  All the units would meet national minimum 

Page 39



20

space standards and benefit with private external balconies that meet London Plan 
area standards in accordance with policy 3.5 of the London Plan and DM4 of the 
local plan.

7.11 The orientation and siting of the proposed dwellings ensures that the amenity of the 
future occupiers is protected in accordance with local plan policy DM25, and given 
the proposed conditions on opening hours of the commercial units, and noise 
mitigation, residential uses are considered compatible with the other land uses 
proposed.  

7.12 In policy terms (as set out in paragraphs 6.31 to 6.75 to this report) an employment-
led redevelopment of the site is considered appropriate for the site.  During the pre-
application process it became evident to officers that an employment led 
redevelopment of the site was more conducive in design terms to protecting and 
enhancing the heritage assets on-site, compared to the earlier pre-application 
iterations of the scheme produced by the project architects that were residential led.  
Given this conclusion and consideration of Local Plan Managing Development 
Document Policy DM27 ‘Heritage and the Historic Environment’ of seeking to 
preserve or enhance the Borough’s heritage assets it is considered the small 
quantum of housing the scheme would deliver is acceptable given such an 
approach  produces markedly better heritage outcomes.  As such the scheme 
optimises the overall development potential on-site and complies with development 
plan policies and the ‘guiding’ and ‘core principles’ of the NPPF, as set out in 
paragraphs 14 and 17 of the NPPF.

Flexible Use A1-A4 Retail / B1 Space  

7.13 The scheme proposes up to 1,234sqm of net additional retail (use classes A1-A4) 
floorspace compared to the present provision. There a six separate commercial 
units proposed on the ground floor fronting Hackney Road.  One is dedicated to a 
A4 use class (public house) to replace the existing Joiners Arms.  The other five 
units provide flexible use space measuring 349sq.m,134sq.m, 248sq.m, 275sq.m 
and 268sq.m. These could come forward as either a shop (use class A1), 
profession services (use class A2), a restaurant/ café (use class A3), a drinking 
establishment (use class A4) or an office (use class B1a). To avoid undermining 
nearby town centres it is recommended that a Condition is imposed to ensure A1, 
A2, and A3use classes are limited to a maximum floorspace of 349sq.m. and no 
more than 349sq.m +  286sq.m (Joiners Arm replacement floorspace) floorspace as 
A4 use class. 

7.14 Local Plan Policy DM2 only supports ‘local’ shops outside of town centres where 
there is demonstrable need that cannot be met within existing town centres and with 
them being of an appropriate scale to their locality, that does not affect amenity or 
detract from the character of the area and do not form part of or encourage a 
concentration of uses that would undermine nearby town centres.  Local Plan Policy 
DM4 seeks to direct prospective new restaurants and drinking establishments to the 
Central Activity Zone, Tower Hamlets Activity Areas and designated town centres to 
support their vitality and viability.  Whilst in some locations the proposed quantum of 
A1-A4 floorspace could be considered contrary to Policies DM2 and DM1 (the latter 
in respect of strengthening town centre hierarchy), in this instance the quantum is 
considered acceptable given its location in the City Fringe with the Mayor of London 
OAPF document acknowledging  the need for a vibrant mix of land-uses within the 
City Fringe including shops, bars, cafes and restaurants that allows opportunities for 
“informal networking and initiating further collaboration”, being a key attractor for 
“young, skilled professionals who successful digital company needs to attract”.  

Page 40



21

7.15 While Strategy 4 of the OAPF focusses retail development on the CAZ and 
designated town centres, the site can be considered well integrated to the public 
transport network and given its prominent place on a main road artery into central 
London there are tangible urban design benefits to providing active commercial 
frontages onto this section of Hackney Road.  Furthermore, it is also noted that the 
nearby Columbia Road neighbourhood shopping centre has a zero vacancy rate 
that indicates (along with the Columbia Road street market) the centre is attracting 
custom to its degree bespoke retail offer, and that this designated retail centre is not 
liable to be threatened by new retails units on this application site, nor is Brick Lane 
Local Centre over 500m walking distance to the south.  On that basis, the Council’s 
Strategic Planning team consider the proposals to be complimentary to the viability 
of the primary employment use of the site, subject to controls on the total quantum 
and size of individual A1-A4 units and a control on the total number of A3-A4 units 
to ensure the scale of development does not draw trade away from neighbouring 
shopping centres and to protect local residential amenity. 

Re-Provision of Public House (Use Class A4)

7.16 Policy DM8 ‘Community Infrastructure’ of the Managing Development Document 
seeks to protect social and community facilities where they meet an identified local 
need and the buildings are considered suitable for their use, in accordance with the 
aims of Policy 3.16 of the London Plan.  Policy DM8 sets out expressly that Public 
Houses can be considered community infrastructure facilities for the purposes of 
this policy

7.17 Policy DM8 (2) states “where development proposals are likely to adversely impact 
on existing health, leisure and social and community facilities, the re-provision of the 
existing facility will be required as part of the redevelopment unless it can be 
demonstrated that a new off site location would better meet the needs of existing 
users and complies with part (3) of this policy”.

7.18 Policy DM8 (3) states “The loss of a facility will only be considered if it can be 
demonstrated that there is no longer a need for the facility within the local 
community and the building is no longer suitable, or the facility is being adequately 
reprovided elsewhere in the borough.”

7.19 London Plan Policy 3.16 – ‘Protection and Enhancement of Social Infrastructure – 
also seeks to meets the social needs of our diverse population. Policy 13.6(B) 
states “Development proposals which provide high quality social infrastructure will 
be supported in light of local and strategic social infrastructure needs assessments. 
Proposals which would result in a loss of social infrastructure in areas of defined 
need for that type of social infrastructure without realistic proposals for reprovision 
should be resisted’. Policy 3.16 also sets out that such facilities should be 
accessible to all sections of the community.

7.20 For the purposes of determining this planning application and applying Policy DM8 it 
is evident to the Council that the Joiners Arms is a community infrastructure facility 
and equally it is evident that no-off site location has been provided in the Borough, 
or indeed in a close location outside the Borough that fully meets this need to an 
adequate degree. 

7.21 A recent University College of London report commissioned by GLA sets out there 
has been 73% loss of LGBT+ venues in the Borough since 2006. The nature and 
number of written representations made in respect of this application that seek an 

Page 41



22

A4 use to be retained on site underlines to officers the vacant Joiners Arms serves 
a community infrastructure function.  

7.22 The Joiners Arms role as community infrastructure facility can also be gauged by 
the being designated as Public House which is an Asset of Community Value (ACV) 
by the Council in March 2015, under powers given to the Council through the 
Localism Act 2011. 

7.23 An ACV designation falls outside the scope of the planning system. An Asset of 
Community Value is listed on the Council’s register following a community 
nomination and generally stays on the list for a period of 5 years beginning with the 
date of entry. When a nomination is made by a qualifying community body or group, 
the Council are required to include an asset on the list if they are of the opinion that 
(a) an actual current use of the building or other land that is not an ancillary use 
furthers the social wellbeing or social interests of the local community, and (b) it is 
realistic to think that there can continue to be non-ancillary use of the building or 
other land which will further (whether or not in the same way) the social wellbeing or 
social interests of the local community. The implication of a listing is that if/when the 
owner decides to dispose of an interest in the land (either the freehold or leasehold 
for at least 25 years) then a moratorium will apply. Initially this will allow a six week 
period for the qualifying community group to express an interest in bidding for the 
ACV.  If it does so then a six-month moratorium will apply to give the group the 
opportunity to compile a bid to acquire the ACV.  The owner is not under any 
obligation to sell or use the ACV in a particular way during the period of ownership. 
The owner can also reject the group’s bid if desired. Once the Moratorium has 
elapsed, they can sell to whoever they chose. The listing is not a planning 
designation but it is capable of being a material planning consideration and various 
permitted development rights relating to changes of use, temporary uses and 
demolition are disapplied to ACVs

7.24 The Dept. of Communities and Local Government Guidance Note (2012) on Assets 
of Community Value sets out for the purpose of determining planning applications. It 
is open to the Local Planning Authority to decide whether listing as an ACV is a 
material consideration if an application for change of use is submitted, considering 
all the circumstances of the case. There is no established case law on how much 
weight local planning authorities should give to an ACV when determining planning 
applications that could affect them and this will be a matter of judgement for the 
decision maker taking into account the circumstances of the particular case.

7.25 The existing Joiner Arms venue (which is now closed) occupies 435sq.m with 
192.5sq.m at ground floor, with 91.2sq.m (at basement level suited for beer storage) 
and 151.3sq.m of ancillary residential accommodation at first floor. The proposed 
scheme would provide 286sq.m at ground floor (with an opportunity to arrange the 
internal layout to provide for a kitchen area, a back of house drinks storage space 
and provide an entry with internal lobby space to curb noise breakout.  Given there 
is no net loss in operational A4 floorspace it is concluded the proposed A4 unit in 
land use terms is consistent with Policy DM8 of Local Plan and London Plan Policy 
3.16.

7.26 The scheme would provide for a new Public House (A4 Use Class) on site (albeit 
not located upon the same building plot as the existing Joiners Arms), of an 
operational size comparable with the existing Public House, and as such officers 
consider that appropriate weight has been given to the Joiners Arms ACV 
designation.   

Page 42



23

7.27 With regard to the opportunity for the new Public House to serve as a late night 
drinking establishment, as set out in the comments received from the Licensing 
Team, considerations of amenity impact to neighbours would need to be given 
consideration including to the significant number of new residential units consented 
and about to be built out opposite.  

7.28 There is no opportunity to impose ‘reverse sensitivity’ noise testing (in line with 
Mayor of London draft ‘Culture and the Night Time Economy SPG and its ‘Agent of 
Change’ principles) upon the major residential development located opposite the 
A4, at 97-147 Hackney Road, as the scheme has been already consented and this 
alongside the changing land use character of Hackney Road will need to inform the 
opening hours imposed on the A4 and other flexible units within the scheme.

8.0 HERITAGE AND DESIGN 

8.1 The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 requires at 72(2) 
that “special attention shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the 
character or appearance of that area”.  This is interpreted within the NPPF. The 
implementation of  legislation concerning the proper approach for assessing impacts 
on listed buildings and conservation areas has been addressed in recent Court of 
Appeal and High Court Judgments. The key outcome of these Court decisions for 
local planning authorities is the emphasis for decision makers in that balancing 
benefits and impacts of a proposal, the preservation of the heritage assets should 
be given “special regard / attention” and therefore considerable weight and 
importance.”.

8.2 The NPPF is the key policy document at national level, relevant to the formation of 
local plans and to the assessment of individual planning applications.  The parts of 
this document relevant to ‘Heritage, Design and Appearance’ are Chapter 7 
‘Requiring good design’ and Chapter 12 ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic 
Environment.’

8.3 Chapter 7 explains that the Government attaches great importance to the design of 
the built environment.  It advises that it is important to plan for high quality and 
inclusive design, including individual buildings, public and private spaces and wider 
area development schemes.  Planning decisions should not seek to impose 
architectural styles, stifle innovation or originality, but it is proper to promote or 
reinforce local distinctiveness.

8.4 Chapter 12 relates to the implications of a development for the historic environment 
and provides assessment principles.  It also identifies the way in which any impacts 
should be considered, and how they should be balanced with the benefits of a 
scheme.

8.5 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states that in developing a positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment local planning authorities 
should take account of:
 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 

and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;
 the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 

sustainable communities including their economic vitality;
 the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 

character and distinctiveness; and 
 opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment to 

the character of a place.

Page 43



24

8.6 The Tower Hamlets Conservation Strategy offers a clear understanding of Tower 
Hamlets historic environment, and the issues facing it and is intended to manage 
change and development within the Borough.  It sets out a clear vision for ensuring 
that the historic environment is preserved and enhanced, and offers a positive 
strategy for the conservation and enjoyment of the Boroughs historic environment to 
ensure that it continues to be appreciated and enjoyed by this and future 
generations. Paragraph 129 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities 
should identify and assess the particular significance of any heritage asset that may 
be affected by a proposal (including by development affecting the setting of a 
heritage asset) taking account of the available evidence and any necessary 
expertise. 

8.7 Policy DM24 of the Managing Development Document seeks high quality design in 
development, sensitive to the character of the surrounding area in terms of its use of 
materials, design details and building lines. This is supported by Policy SP10 of the 
Core Strategy and Policy 7.4 of the London Plan. 

8.8 Policy DM27 of the Managing Development Document seeks the preservation and 
enhancement of the Borough’s heritage assets, including Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas, in accordance with Policy SP10 of the Adopted Core Strategy 
and Policy 7.8 of the London Plan. It specifies that development within a heritage 
asset will only be approved where it does not have an adverse impact on the 
character, fabric or identity of the heritage asset, and requires development to be 
appropriate in terms of design, details and materials in the local context.  

8.9 In this case the relevant designated heritage asset is the Hackney Road 
Conservation Area. The buildings on site are not listed or referred to specifically 
within the conservation area character appraisal.  The Conservation Area appraisal 
describes the townscape of the conservation area as “composed of a dense 
concentration of modest sized properties where buildings are 2-4 stories high, 
where plot sizes are small and there is variety, rhythm and a human scale.”  The 
Conservation Appraisal summarises the character of the conservation area as a 
whole as follows. 

“The Hackney Road corridor supports a varied and interesting townscape, 
which represents a historic whole with a character greater than the sum of 
its parts. It forms part of a cherished local scene ….and is worthy of 
protection and enhancement”  

8.10 The above description relates well to the existing built qualities of the development 
site.  The site, like Hackney Road more generally, has a special character showing 
the incremental historic development of the area - with buildings on the individual 
plots that compose the development site constructed over a range of building eras - 
from as early as the 1820-1840’s (approximately) through to the 1950’s.  The 
existing buildings upon the site taken together do contribute positively to the 
conservation area. 

8.11 The development site on its Hackney Road frontage provides for a townscape which 
contains a set of narrow plot frontages (albeit interspersed by relatively wider plot 
widths from a more recent age) and these relatively narrow frontages with their 
varying parapet heights, differing height rooftops help provide visual interest and a 
fine grain character to the site that helps contribute positively to the defining 
townscape character of the conservation area. It is a reflection of the organic 
development of the site.

Page 44



25

Figure 4: Proposed Hackney Road frontage to site

Figure 5: CGI showing main D J Simons Building with 3 storey vertical 
extension above and new A4 Unit (to right of that). 

8.12 A heritage and townscape appraisal report accompanies the application that 
assessed the merit of the individual buildings and this report was extensively 
reviewed by the Borough Conservation Team. 

8.13 The shell of the main D J Simmons Building would be retained under the proposal 
with only demolition of the existing single storey element, set forward of the principal 
elevation proposed. This retained building would provide the main entrance and 
reception area from street to the upper floor office spaces. The building’s new core 
and reception areas would form distinctive and attractive spaces in their own right 
and would contribute to a distinct industrial aesthetic to the offices. Internally 
exposed existing building features would be retained and reused including use of 
characterful steel columns, steel beams, cobbled floors and exposed brick internal 
walls. 

Page 45



26

Figure 6: Ground floor reception area serving main set of upper floor work 
spaces (set within main D J Simons Building)

8.14 The majority of the main frame of the existing building located on the corner of 
Pelter Street and Diss Street would also be retained. It is in good structural state 
and has inherent conservation area heritage merit.  

Figure 7:  Corner of Pelter Street and Diss Street - CGI show retained corner 
building (with terracotta finished vertical extension set above.  

Page 46



27

8.15 The characterful existing external facade to Strout’s Place would be dismantled but 
rebuilt in a manner that accords with the existing character of the elevation with the 
interesting arrangement (of solid wall and windows and doors openings in essence 
maintained). The need to dismantle the existing façade in the proposed scheme 
comes about from structural failings in the existing wall and a need to rearrange 
openings to allow rationalised floor levels to be inserted behind this elevation.  The 
four façades of the ‘Cabinet Building’, located at the heart of the site (set away from 
street edges) will be largely retained. The upper floor front façade at Nos. 114 to No 
118 (including the Joiners Arms) would be dismantled but rebuilt to faithfully 
replicate their existing façade treatment. Crittall type windows (an upper floor 
feature of the inter war built Joiners Arms) will be returned as a feature to the front 
elevation. Careful recording of those elevations to be rebuilt will ensure that they are 
accurately reinstated, preserving their distinctive character

Figure 8: Site Building Retention Plan 

8.16 A planning condition would require return of the decorative panels which was 
previously found on the front of the Joiners Arms, should they be recovered, or if not 
recovered the condition would require these panels are accurately reproduced and 
reinstalled in their original position on the facade. Similarly it is known there were 
two very finely decorated wooden panelled rooms within the furniture making 
complex (subsequently hidden behind false walls to guard against damage).  A 
planning condition shall be imposed to require these fine room panels are reused 
within rooms in the new development if they are discovered during the partial 
demolition phase that will be carefully managed and be subject of a historic building 
recording planning condition.

Page 47



28

8.17 The single storey ground floor shop fronts facing onto Hackney Road would be 
removed with the original early 19th century alignment of the street being reinstated 
at the southern end of the Hackney Road frontage.  New retail frontages would be 
inserted into the base of the existing building elevations and these ground floor 
frontages would include some recycling of existing architectural features, for 
example reuse of the Corinthian capitals within the ground floor Hackney Road 
frontage to the main D J Simons Building.  Height and composition of shopfronts on 
new elevations would reflect the historic character and proportions of the street. 
Fascia located within recessed openings provide a subtle and flexible solution for 
signage.    

8.18 The scheme would be predominantly finished in brick along Hackney Road, with 
terracotta type rain screen cladding used upon some of the extensions and upper 
floors.   The detailing to the vertical extension including the terracotta cladding 
system has been the subject of extensive and fruitful design 
development/refinement discussions with both the Borough Conservation and 
Urban Design Officers and these discussions will continue post determination, were 
the scheme approved, including provision of final choice material samples, panels’ 
size and pattern;  drawings of the façade’s construction detail .  The vertical 
extension are all sufficiently set back from the historic principal elevation so the 
existing facades retain are given primacy, none of the vertical extensions match the 
height of the original buildings below to secure a visual subsidiarity.  The subtle 
layering of the scheme also reduces the impact of the extensions to the existing 
buildings.8.19 The rear elevations to the new development are of a larger 
more block like form, but care has been taken to maintain interest through 
introduction of windows, subtle recessed strike courses around the building and the 
articulation of the different plots still to a degree expressed through the fine grain 
terracotta cladding in a variety of colours. 

8.20 The vertical extensions on Hackney Road frontage are designed to complement the 
retained frontages below, and reinforce the individual plot grain. Fenestration 
patterns for the new top element loosely reflect the old elements beneath but most 
of all ensure that new structures have much lighter appearance than historic fabric. 
Colour variations in the slim terracotta panelling between the extensions will help 
each historic plot read individually

8.21 The new building set towards the corner of Diss Street would sit forward of the 
remainder of the scheme’s Hackney Road frontage to match the exiting building line 
but through articulation detailing is designed to act as a relatively ‘neutral’ addition 
that responds to its neighbours through architectural detailing that helps group the 
building into three bays, through the proportion of glazing to brick and recessed 
brickwork at base and fourth storey parapet level to give an understated visual 
interest. A public art work would be secured by planning condition for the flank 
elevation visible on Hackney Road visible from views set further to the east of the 
site.   

8,22 The Borough Conservation Officer acknowledges the scheme may result in some 
harm to the Hackney Road Conservation Area from the proposed increase in height 
and massing.  However this harm must be balanced against the considerable 
heritage and urban design benefits of the scheme.  This scheme has been carefully 
designed to ensure retention of the historic fabric as far as possible, building on the 
existing character to inform devlopment and create an exciting set of proposals.  .   

8.23 The scheme is designed with proper regard to the principles of inclusive design and 
the associated development plan policies.  One of the 2 bedroom units will be 

Page 48



29

designed to be wheelchair accessible unit and with lift access provided to all 9 
proposed homes.  Step free access will be provided to all the levels of the main 
office building and level thresholds to all the ground floor units.  A disabled adapted 
shower facility in the basement will serve occupants of the office workspaces. 

8.24 The public realm would be enhanced through the scheme introducing a significantly 
wider pavement (compared to what presently exists) at the western end of the 
Hackney Road frontage - following the demolition of the existing single storey 
buildings on this frontage. The expanded open space allows the scheme to street 
creates an opportunity for individual forecourts to some of the commercial units 
including the proposed A4 unit (to enable an alfresco table and chairs arrangement 

8.25 A number of the existing buildings on site (including some of the facades that will be 
retained or dismantled and then rebuilt) are underused and in a poor condition. 
Implementation of this scheme will ensure their sensitive repair / restoration and will 
bring them back into active use, securing their long term future.  .  Securing the 
future of the buildings and safeguarding the best built heritage features of the site 
are two inextricably linked aspects of this scheme and are considered to be 
significant benefits when balancing this scheme as a whole, and they must be 
afforded significant weight in the determination of this application |As a whole the 
scheme is considered to preserve the character and appearance of the Hackney 
Road Conservation Area,  retaining and refurbishing the sites locally distinctive 
buildings, and enhancing their appearance through careful repair, and restoration.  
They will enable the successful reuse of this underused site and secure the future of 
these characterful buildings in the longer term. .

8.26 Overall. it is considered that design is a sensitive and well considered response to 
the site and its surroundings and is in accordance with s72 of the Planning (Listed 
Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (as amended), the National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) objectives in particular paragraph 14, and section 12 of 
the NPPF, the London Plan, in particular policies 3.5, 3.7, 7.3, 7.4, 7.5, 7.6, 7.7 and 
7.8 of the London Plan (2016), policies SP02, SP10 and SP12 of the Tower 
Hamlets’ Core Strategy (2010) and policies, DM4, DM23, DM24, DM25, DM26, 
DM27 the Tower Hamlets’ Managing Development Document and the priorities and 
principles of the Shoreditch Vision (Core Strategy 2010) which seek to deliver place-
making of the highest quality in accordance with the principle of sustainable 
development, including preserving, protecting or enhancing heritage assets.

9.0 AMENITY

9.1 Policy DM25 of the Borough’s adopted Managing Development Document (MDD) 
and Policy SO6 of the Core Strategy requires development to protect, and where 
possible improve, the amenity of surrounding neighbours, have a concern for the 
amenity of future occupants of a building and have regard to users of the 
surrounding public realm to a new development.  Policy DM25 states that this 
should be by way of: 

(a) protecting privacy, avoiding an unacceptable increase in sense of enclosure;
(b) avoiding an unacceptable loss of outlook; 
(c) ensuring adequate level of daylight and sunlight for new residential 

development; 
(d) not resulting in an unacceptable material deterioration of sunlighting and 

daylighting conditions including habitable rooms of residential dwellings, 
community uses and offices nor result in unacceptable levels of 
overshadowing to surrounding open space development; and 

Page 49



30

(e) not result in an unacceptable level of overshadowing to surrounding open 
space and create unacceptable levels of noise, vibration, light pollution or 
reductions in air quality during construction phase or operational life of the 
development.

Privacy/Overlooking

9.2 With respect to the recent development consented at Nos. 97-137 Hackney Road 
(located on the opposite side of Hackney Road) the planning application scheme 
would generally maintain separation distances to habitable room with that scheme 
in excess of 20m.  However there are 18 windows serving habitable rooms within 
the consented scheme where the separation distance would be approximately 16m. 
This latter separation distance is considered acceptable, given it is only 2m below 
the Borough guidance figure for overlooking and given the affected habitable rooms 
are to a new and yet to be built out development (set across a busy main road) and 
where any new residents to the No 97-137 development would be purchasing these 
new homes aware this would have office windows facing their habitable room 
windows. The affected habitable room windows are all within the private market 
tenure.  

9.3 With regard to the 3 storey residential terrace on the south side of Pelter Street (at 
1-14 Vaughan Estate) the closest office windows within the proposed scheme that 
would face the habitable rooms in this residential terrace are set towards the 
junction of Pelter Street and Diss Street.  Here the minimum separation distance is 
below 8m between windows.  However this closest separation distance from 
windows within the site to No 1-14 is also present within the existing development 
on-site and as such the scheme does not present a new and therefore unacceptable 
privacy issue.  However it is acknowledged existing facing windows within the site 
are not regularly used, as they serve mainly warehousing areas.  To avoid any 
additional sense of overlooking and because the proposed development rises over 
more storeys on the Pelter Street elevation than presently exist the scheme has 
been modified (during the pre-application process) to set back the proposed built 
development on the 4th storey. In addition the scheme would introduce frittered 
glazing (or some other privacy device) to 1.7m above individual floor levels (at 1st, 
2nd and 3rd floor) to resolve privacy/overlooking issues.

Sense of Enclosure/Outlook

9.4 The scheme is not considered to give rise to a sense of enclosure or loss of outlook 
to neighbouring residential development upon Hackney Road due to: the new 
residential development coming forward on the north side of the road is taller than 
this proposed scheme; a reasonable separation distances between the two 
developments; and the enhanced outlook afforded by the gentle bend of Hackney 
Road at this location.  The scheme is not considered to impose unduly upon 
residents living opposite the site on Diss Street given the separation provided by the 
retained building at No. 152 Hackney Road. The scheme would not impose on 
outlook to residents living on the opposite of Strouts Place, as there are no 
neighbouring windows facing the new development and Strouts Place.

Page 50



31

Figure 9: CGI of rear elevation of scheme set above GP Surgery 
(at corner of Pelter Street and Strout’s Place3

9.5 In respect to No 1-14 Vaughan Estates the proposed additional bulk set towards the 
rear of the proposed development would give rise to a greater degree of enclosure 
to these homes than presently exists and some reduction of outlook to existing 
neighbours, as is evident separately from the daylight analysis. However the sense 
of enclosure imposition is limited by: (a) the presence of the GP surgery building set 
between the two sites for much of the Pelter Street frontage; and (b) by setting the 
additional storeys of the proposed scheme back from where the application site 
physically abuts Pelter Street. 

9.6 To conclude, overall the massing relationship is considered acceptable to 
neighbours living in Vaughan Estate and to all other neighbouring residential 
properties.

Page 51



32

Figure 10:  Proposed Pelter Street facing elevation

Daylight/sunlight

9.7 The daylighting conditions at neighbouring properties are normally calculated by two 
main methods, namely the Vertical Sky Component (VSC) and No Sky Line (NSL).  
Building Research Establishment (BRE) guidance in relation to VSC requires an 
assessment of the amount of daylight striking the face of a window. The VSC should 
be at least 27%, or should be reduced to no less than 0.8 times their former value, 
in order to ensure that sufficient light is still reaching windows.  Percentage VSC 
and NSL reductions of between 20% and 30% are treated by BRE an minor adverse 
failings against guidance, between 30% and 40% moderate adverse and greater 
40% major adverse.  

9.8 Sunlight is assessed through the calculation known as the Annual Probable Sunlight 
Hours (APSH), which considers the amount of sunlight available during the summer 
and winter for each window facing within 90 degrees of due south (i.e. windows that 
receive direct sunlight).  The amount of sunlight that a window receives should not 
be less than 5% of the APSH during the winter months of 21 September to 21 
March, so as to ensure that such windows are reasonably sunlit. In addition, any 
reduction in APSH beyond 20% of its former value would be noticeable to 
occupants and would constitute a material reduction in sunlight.

9.9 The applicant submitted a daylight and sunlight report with the planning application. 
The report’s scope of assessment includes the following neighbours:  2-5 Cremer 
Street and 139 Hackney Road, 152 Hackney Road, 160 Hackney Road and 5 Diss 
Street,  18-46 Pelter Street, 21-63 Pelter Street,  1-14 Vaughan Estate (described 
as 1-14 Strouts Place in the applicant’s daylight report) and 93-137 Hackney Road.  

9.10 The Council appointed independent daylight/sunlight consultants to review the 
submitted report and share the findings of the submitted report that the scope of the 
assessment is correct in respect to potentially affected neighbouring properties.  
They also share the conclusions that the VSC and NSL results for 21-63 Pelter 
Street and 152 Hackney Road are fully BRE compliant and APSH sunlighting 
testing were not required for these properties. 

Page 52



33

2-5 Cremer Street and 139 Hackney Road

9.11 All habitable rooms meet BRE NSL daylight distribution targets. The Council’s 
daylight consultants conclude the BRE guidance for daylight to these residential 
properties is met. Whilst there are VSC losses in respect of windows set behind 
recessed balconies these are not deemed significant given the existing baseline 
VSC is low (at less than 1%), such that any further reduction in daylight would 
barely be perceptible.

160 Hackney Road and 5 Diss Street

9.12 Seven windows within the flank elevation facing the site would not meet VSC BRE 
guidance targets.  However five of these  windows are to rooms which are dual 
aspect with other south facing windows that would maintain their existing very good 
direct access to daylight and sunlight and as such the impacts to the affected 
windows are considered acceptable.  The two other adversely affected windows are 
to bedrooms. The impacts to these two windows are classified as minor adverse 
and major adverse respectively.  BRE NSL daylight distribution guidance levels 
would not be met to seven bedrooms, three of the affected bedrooms experiencing 
major adverse the other four minor adverse.  

18-46 Pelter Street

9.13 Three windows were tested over 3 storeys to this residential block, with seven minor 
VSC adverse failings and four moderate adverse.  The majority of the adversely 
affected windows are understood to serve circulation spaces, kitchens or bathroom 
windows. The affected windows on 1st and 2nd storey are set below access decks, 
so existing low levels of daylight prevail.  Only two of the rooms have NSL results 
which fall outside BRE guidance with minor adverse losses of 25% and 27%.

93-137 Hackney Road (Blocks 1 and 2)

9.14 The scheme is not yet constructed but is about to be built by Regal Homes and 
contains two residential blocks of 6 and 7 storeys facing the site.  Given the 
residential development is not completed, BRE guidance sets out that Average 
Daylight Factor (ADF) test should be the primary test plus daylight distribution (NSL) 
testing as opposed to VSC.  

9.15 The Council’s independent consultants conclude for Block 2 both the daylight and 
sunlight impacts (assessed against BRE guidance for ADF, NSL and APSH) are 
acceptable for an urban location, when account is taken of the residential 
development design involving inset balconies. 

9.16 Within Block 1, eleven of the thrity-two bedrooms tested would not meet their ADF 
target of 1% (ranging from 0.15% to 0.81%). However all of these bedrooms are 
recessed.  nine out of twenty-four tested kitchen/living/dining rooms fail to meet 
BRE’s 2% ADF target, six of the failures are to recessed rooms at 2nd, 3rd and 4th 
floor. (i.e. two rooms at second, third and fourth floor level).  Within Block 2 only one 
of the twenty bedrooms tested would not meet the BRE target and three of the 
sixteen living/kitchen/dining rooms would not meet the 2% ADF target, with minor 
failings between 1.75% to 1.91% ADF. 

9.17 Within Block 1 the majority of rooms would receive daylight less than 80% of their 
floor area which is contrary to BRE guidance.  However the Council’s consultants 
note these impacts can be explained in large part by the design of the block with the 

Page 53



34

affected rooms set recessed behind inset balconies and with rooms having a very 
deep plan.  For sunlight testing, high levels of APSH compliance were achieved to 
neighbouring windows which are not set recessed on the elevation and this confirms 
to the Council’s daylight consultants that it is the horizontal and vertical blinkering 
effect of the recessed balconies that best explain the failings rather than the 
massing of the proposed development located opposite.

No 1-14 Vaughan Estate

9.18 The most consistent and substantial adverse daylight impacts to any neighbouring 
properties to the planning application site arise in respect to this terrace block set to 
south of Pelter Street.  All thirty habitable room windows facing the site were tested 
and all these windows would fail to meet BRE VSC guidance with thirteen windows 
(all on the ground floor) with major adverse impacts (ranging from 41% to 83% 
reductions) and a further fourteen windows with moderate adverse impacts 
(between 30-40%).  All the rooms tested for NSL would incur substantial adverse 
impacts with daylight distribution percentage reductions (across all three storeys) 
ranging from 46% to 70%.  

9.19 The daylight/sunlight report notes fourteen of the affected habitable rooms are 
bedrooms the remaining sixteen being kitchens.  The Council’s daylight consultant’s 
note in their findings that BRE compliance would not be achievable without quite 
significant reductions in the height of the proposed massing on the application site. 

9.20 Officers acknowledge that these fourteen homes would be subject to a marked 
reduction in daylighting conditions, resulting from the proposed development and 
this consideration needs to be given due material weight when seeking to draw 
together conclusions on the scheme for the purpose of determining the planning 
application. To this end, officers note the daylight impacts are restricted to 
bedrooms and kitchens within these homes and do not affect windows to the main 
living rooms (that all benefit from an open south east facing aspect).  On balance 
officers consider the reduction in daylight to these individual properties to be 
considered acceptable in the context of the site’s urban context and the scheme’s 
overall heritage, employment and urban design regenerative benefits.    

Noise

9.21 Paragraph 123 of the NPPF states that planning policies and decision should aim to 
avoid noise giving rise to significant adverse impacts on health and quality of life as 
a result of new development; mitigate and reduce to a minimum other adverse 
impacts on health and quality of life arising from noise from new development, 
including through the use of conditions. 

9.22 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP10 and DM25(e) requires new development  
to not create unacceptable level of noise during the construction and end phase of 
the development.  

9.23 The applicant has submitted a noise assessment with the scheme.  Officers have 
reviewed the details of the scheme and are satisfied that noise at both construction 
phase and at end phase can be consistent with protection of the 
neighboursresidential amenity, subject to appropriate planning conditions. 
Submission of full details of noise insulation measures including acoustic glazing 
would be a requirement of the Public House and flexible use commercial units.  The 
proposed Pubic House poses a particular risk of noise disturbance from customers 
leaving the premises including movement from within the premises to the front of 

Page 54



35

street smoking area. As such a planning condition would be imposed to secure a 
post completion acoustic assessment of noise break out, of ambient noise arising to 
street from the venue’s external space and from any other A3 or A4 unit that came 
occupied as part of the development. A door management and smoking area 
supervision plan would also form part of any A3/A4 Operational Management Plan 

   

Figure 11: Proposed Ground Floorplan

The proposed scheme

10.1 With respect to the proposed office space the scheme is considered to provide high 
quality of accommodation with all the workspaces benefiting from good access to 
natural light.  The internal treatment of the communal spaces both internally and 
externally is high, with the architect’s imaginative reuse of existing features, through 
the provision of a ground floor courtyard (acting as a private buffer space from the 
traffic of Hackney Road) and with the inclusion of six roof top landscaped terraces.  
A planning condition will be imposed to secure a Management Plan for the use of 
these roof terraces including hours of occupation to avoid potential amenity issues 
to residential neighbours.

10.2 The ground floor flexible use spaces fronting Hackney Road will benefit from a 
direct and active relationship to street.  A planning condition will secure a consistent 
and coherent shopfront signage strategy to these ground floor units that will benefit 
from the visual amenity of the units themselves but also the elevation and the 
streetscene more generally. 

10.3 The daylight/sunlight report demonstrates all the living/kitchen/dining room spaces 
meet the BRE 2% ADF target, the daylight distribution targets and benefit with direct 
sunlight that accords with BRE (APSH) guidance targets. 

Page 55



36

10.4 There would be four out of sixteen total bedrooms that fail to meet the 1% ADF BRE 
target figures and these rooms would also fail the daylight distribution targets.  
Overall the daylight/sunlight provision to these units is considered acceptable given 
the failings can be explained by the inclusion of recessed balconies but also from 
the site constraints that are derived from reusing an existing building (that is to the 
benefit of wider heritage considerations).

10.5 The proposed residential units shall not give rise to direct conflict with any noise or 
general disturbance associated with the scheme’s proposed Public House A4, as 
the entrance to the nine residential units is set over 50m away from the Public 
House (on Strout’s Place), all the units benefiting from mechanical air ventilation (in 
addition to opening windows) and by only three (all dual aspect units) of the nine 
flats having windows facing onto Hackney Road.    

10.6 The Public House would have its smoking area set within its own delineated 
forecourt area, as the ground floor layout does not lend itself to provision to the rear. 

10.7 The new residential properties coming forward on the other side of Hackney Road 
shall all benefit from a planning condition imposed with that consent that imposes 
high specification of acoustic insulation that should eliminate noise disturbance 
issues associated with the A4 use.  Potential conflicts between the operation of the 
A4 and residential neighbours in terms of general disturbance as customer 
enter/exit the venue, from customer smoking, it is considered by officers, can be 
adequately dealt with through Venue Customer Management Plan, plus other 
planning conditions imposed in respect of a noise breakout strategy for the A4 
venue, limits on opening hours through the separate licencing regime.  

10.8 Having consideration for the emerging residential context to the Public House a 
planning condition restricting the opening hours to no later midnight on Friday and 
Saturday night is proposed and 23:00 hours for the remaining days of the week, 
allowing half an hour to close and clear the venue of customers.  

10.9 These proposed hours of opening could be revisited after the Public House is in 
operation for 6 months and following its receipt of its licensing opening hours. This 
would need to be through a section 73 application to amend the condition. 

10.10 On balance and subject to the recommended conditions, the proposed development 
is not considered to result in unduly detrimental impacts in terms of overlooking, 
loss of privacy, sense of enclosure, noise and nuisance to the existing and future 
residents within the building and nearby, and therefore the proposal sufficiently 
safeguards existing residential amenity, in accordance with Policy DM25 of the 
Managing Development Document 2013.  

11 TRANSPORT AND HIGHWAYS 

Servicing and Delivery

11.1 Policy SP09(3) of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure new development has no 
adverse impact on the safety and capacity of the road network.  

Car & Cycle Parking

11.2 The NPPF and Policies 6.1 and 6.9 of the London Plan,  Policy SP09 (4) of the Core 
Strategy and Policies DM20 and DM22 of the Managing Development document 

Page 56



37

seeks to ensure development proposals promote sustainable modes of transport 
and accessibility, and reduce the need to travel by car. 

11.3 The proposal does not include any on site vehicle parking, however since the site 
has an excellent Public Transport Accessibility Rating (PTAL 6a), this is considered 
appropriate. A planning condition will need to be imposed to secure the site as a car 
free development. It is acknowledged that there is not a disabled parking bay (for 
the wheelchair accessible unit), instead disabled residents would not be excluded 
from applying for residents parking permit from the Council.

11.4 The cycle storage provision in numerical will be in line with London Plan (2015) also 
sets minimum cycle parking provision standards.  A planning condition will be 
imposed upon any consent to require the cycle storage provision is implemented to 
specification that provides for 20% of the cycle stands to be Sheffield type stands 
and that both the secure cycle spaces and the showering and locker facilities for 
use by cyclists located in the basement would be properly maintained and retained 
for the life of the development.

Refuse and Recyclables Storage

11.5 Policy SP05 in the adopted Core Strategy states developments which are likely to 
produce significant quantities of waste must include adequate arrangements for its 
collection and storage.  This is further emphasised by policy DM14 of the Managing 
Development Document.

11.6 The applicant has provided details of waste and recycling storage capacity, and the 
arrangements for waste collection for the main office spaces to the ground floor 
flexible use spaces and for the 9 residential flats.  The servicing arrangements 
would be considerably less onerous than the existing use in terms of heavy goods 
vehicles. All deliveries will be served by a new service bay to the west end of 
Hackney Road south.

11.7 Waste collection will be carried out on street outside the bin store on Diss Street for 
the office space and Strout’s Place for the residential.  

11..8 These arrangements are considered acceptable by both the Borough Waste 
Development Team and the Highways and Transport Team. subject to planning 
conditions (as set out within the consultee comments section of this report).

12 EQUALITIES    

12.1 The Equality Act 2010 provides that in exercising its functions (which includes the 
functions exercised by the Council as Local Planning Authority), that the Council as 
a public authority shall amongst other duties have due regard to the need to-

• eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited under the Act;

• advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it;

• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.  

Page 57



38

12.2 The protected characteristics set out in the Equality Act are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual 
orientation. The Equality Act acknowledges that compliance with the duties set out 
may involve treating some persons more favourably than others, but that this does 
not permit conduct that would otherwise be prohibited under the Act

12.3 The proposal involves the partial demolition of the Joiners Arms and the retained 
sections of the vacant building not being used for a Public House purpose.  The 
Joiners Arms has been an important and culturally significant venue for the LGBT+ 
community dating back to 1997 when it began operating as a LGBT+ venue. The 
Joiners Arms has a cultural significance beyond its relatively modest size as a 
Public House. This significance is derived in part from its range of community event 
activities (including public health work) that took place there and other community 
activities not usually associated with a Public House.  The Public House had a 
vibrant, informal music and entertainment scene (with nightly rotating DJ’s events, 
karaoke) associated with it before its closure. 

12.4 What might be described as “safe cultural and social spaces” that meet the needs of 
the LGBT+ community in Tower Hamlets and London more widely are increasingly 
under threat of closure or indeed have closed as has been reported and referenced 
earlier in this report. Notwithstanding there is general recognition that there is 
greater tolerance to the LGBT+ community in society and in meeting the LGBT+ 
community within the night time economy as a whole, than when the Joiner Arms 
opened its doors in May 1997 to serve the LGBT+ community  

12.5 Officershave undertaken an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) screening opinion 
for the application.  This Screening Opinion concluded a full EIA was not required as 
the Council as the local planning authority has exercised its functions adequately in 
respect of this planning application with satisfactory regard to the statutory duties 
set out in the Equalities Act in respect of the nine protected characteristics.  

12.6 From prior to formal planning application submission stage through to preparation of 
this Committee Report the Council, both at Officer and Member level, have engaged 
actively with the local LGBT+ community in relation to this redevelopment scheme.  
Evidence of that is several fold but perhaps is most concrete in securing a draft 
Head of Term for the S106, should the scheme be approved and it has been agreed 
with the developer that they shall provide a Right of First Refusal (ROFR) option for 
an LGBT+ operator to take up the lease of the proposed new Public House for the 
site. 

12.7 This draft has been shared with GLA and specifically the Mayor of London’s Cultural 
Unit Team and the Mayor of London’s appointed Night Time Czar. The Night Time 
Czar has expressed support for the approach taken by the Borough in a letter to the 
Council and in a meeting organised by officers (hosted at City Hall) with both 
representatives from Friends of the Joiners and Regal Homes (the developer).  

12.8 The s106 provides a formal mechanism for the GLA Cultural Unit to be engaged 
and to advise in the selection of a future LGBT+ operator for the Public House. If a 
LGBT+ operator comes forward who meets the reasonable selection criteria it will 
be a requirement of the s106 agreement that a period is allowed for negotiating the 
heads of terms of a lease and such lease be granted to them for a minimum term of 
12 years with an initial rent free period. It is considered that this 12 year period 
should be long enough to allow any new operator to establish a viable commercial 
business. If no suitable operator was to come forward or if heads of terms could not 

Page 58



39

be concluded within the period provided then the A4 unit could be leased free of the 
restriction.

12.9 The Council recognise part of the significance of the Joiners Arms is derived from it 
being a Public House serving the LGBT+ community as a specifically late night 
venue.  This planning application would secure a replacement Public House for the 
LGBT+ (providing a suitable LGBT+ operator comes forward to lease it on a 
commercial basis). However a favourable determination of the application cannot 
secure the new Public House the guarantee of a late license or late night opening 
hours controlled by a planning condition.  The expressed ambition of the Friends of 
the Joiners for such a late night venue has been a material consideration for officers 
(and is reflected in the design outcomes secured and in some of the proposed 
planning conditions imposed) however these ambitions need to be wedged against 
other material planning considerations of safeguarding neighbours residential 
amenity, in an evolving local built environment site context with residential 
development already consented opposite the site.  It is these latter considerations 
that explain the limit on hours of opening proposed.  These considerations are duly 
balanced and do not result in the statutory duties imposed upon the Council under 
the Equalities Act in respect of the LGBT+ community being neglected or indeed not 
proactively pursed by it acting in its local planning authority function. This report 
explains the inclusive design of the development and this is considered to advance 
equality of opportunity for those with disabilities. It is noted that no wheelchair car 
parking will be provided on site for use alongside the wheelchair unit but alternative 
provisions are in place.

13 OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS 

Air Quality 

13.1 London Plan Policy 7.14 ‘Improving air quality’ requires development proposals to 
minimise increased exposure to existing poor air quality and make provision to 
address local air quality problems particularly within Air Quality Management Areas 
(AQMA) which exist (as is the case across the Borough of Tower Hamlets) through 
design solutions, buffer zones or steps to promote greater use of sustainable 
transport modes.  Sustainable design and construction measures to reduce 
emissions from the demolition and construction of buildings are also promoted.  
Development should be at least ‘air quality neutral’. In July 2014 the Mayor of 
London published an SPG for ‘The Control of Dust and Emissions during 
Construction and Demolition.’ 

13.2 The Borough Core Strategy Policy DM9 requires major development to submit an 
air quality assessment demonstrating how it will prevent or reduce associated air 
pollution. Policy DM9 of the Managing Development Document also seeks to 
improve air quality within the Borough, and outlines that a number of measures 
would contribute to this such as reducing vehicles traffic levels, controlling how 
construction is carried out, reducing carbon emissions and greening the public 
realm. The application site, as with the entire borough, lies within an Air Quality 
Management Area.  

13.3. An air quality assessment report was prepared for this application.  It shows that the 
development will not have an adverse impact on the pollution levels during the 
operational phase. The assessment also shows that the existing pollution levels on 
site are exceeding the NO2 objectives and therefore mitigation is required to make 
the site suitable for residential use. The assessment proposes utilising mechanical 

Page 59



40

ventilation to provide clean air to the residential units either with the inlet high 
enough for cleaner air or with filtration added. 

13.4 The construction impacts assessment highlights that the development has a 
medium/high risk of potential dust emissions. Suitable mitigation for this should be 
included in the Construction Environmental Management Plan. The new GLA Non 
Road Mobile Machinery Low Emission Zone policy came into force on the 1st 
September 2015, all major construction sites in Greater London commencing after 
this date will have to comply with this policy

13.5 The Borough Air Quality is satisfied with the methodology and approach set out on 
the submitted air quality assessment and has no objection to the scheme or reason 
to suppose it is contrary to relevant development plan policies pertaining to air 
quality, subject to planning conditions: 
 Requiring submission of details of mechanical ventilation to provide clean air 

to the residential units either with the inlet high enough for cleaner air or with 
filtration added. 

 Submission of Construction Environment Management Plan detailing 
measures to control dust emission

 Compliance condition pertaining GLA Non Road Mobile Machinery Low 
Emission Zone 

Flood Risk & Water Resources

13.6 The NPPF, policy 5.12 of the London Plan, and policy DM13 of the MDD and SP04 
of CS relate to the need to consider flood risk at all stages in the planning process. 
Policy 5.13 of the London Plan seeks the appropriate mitigation of surface water 
run-off.

The site is located in Flood Zone 1 and therefore the main risk is from surface water 
run-off from the development.  The applicant has submitted an outline drainage and 
water management strategy for the scheme.   The Borough Flood Risk and 
Drainage Officer has reviewed the report and is satisfied with the approach subject 
to planning condition that provides  
 Further details of drainage design, drainage layouts, flow controls, 

attenuation tanks location
 Details of residual risks – with evaluation of safe and appropriate flow routes 

from blockage and any exceedance upon the drainage system. It must 
demonstrate no property flooding or increase in flood risk, either offsite or to 
third parties; and 

 Details of agreed adoption, monitoring and maintenance of the drainage and 
SUDs features.

Land Contamination 

13.7 London Plan Policy 5.21 requires appropriate measures to be taken to ensure that 
development on previously contaminated land does not activate or spread 
contamination.  Policy DM30 of Local Plan requires a site investigation and 
remediation proposals to be agreed for sites which contain potentially contaminated 
land before planning permission is granted

13.8 An initial land contamination report has been submitted and it has been reviewed by 
Environmental Heath Team who are satisfied with the approach taken subject to 
imposition of a standard appropriately wording planning condition.

Page 60



41

Energy and Sustainability 

13.09 The NPPF sets out that planning plays a key role in delivering reductions to 
greenhouse gas emissions, minimising vulnerability and providing resilience to 
climate change. 

13.10 The climate change policies as set out in Chapter 5 of the London Plan 2015 and 
the Borough’s Core Strategy (Policies SO24 and SP11) and MDD (Policy DM29) 
collectively require new development to make the fullest contribution to the 
mitigation and adaptation to climate change and to minimise carbon dioxide 
emissions.  

13.11 From April 2014 the London Borough of Tower Hamlets have applied a 45% carbon 
reduction target beyond Part L 2013 of the Building Regulations as this is deemed 
to be broadly equivalent to the 50 per cent target beyond Part L 2010 of the Building 
Regulations. The Managing Development Document Policy DM29 includes the 
target to achieve a minimum 50% reduction in CO2 emissions above the Building 
Regulations 2010 through the cumulative steps of the Energy Hierarchy.

13.12 The applicant has submitted a revised energy strategy and based on that the 
Energy Officer is satisfied the 45% reduction against Part L will be achieved.

13.13 Planning condition would be imposed in approval to (i) secure BREEAM Excellent 
rating, (ii) and submission of building energy completion certificates to demonstrate 
the 45% reduction has been achieved with savings derived from an array of sources 
including use of air source heat pump and solar panels located upon the roof.  Any 
such plant would need to be not visible above the parapet at pavement level from 
surrounding streets  

Biodiversity

13.14 The Borough’s Biodiversity Action Plan (2009), Policy 7.19 of the London Plan, 
Policy SP04 of the Borough’s CS and Policy DM11 of the MDD seek to protect and 
enhance biodiversity value through the design of open space and buildings and by 
ensuring that development protects and enhances areas of biodiversity value in 
order to achieve a net gain in biodiversity.  

13.15 An ecology report was submitted with the application. The application site is not 
considered to be of any significant biodiversity value, and that the scheme is 
capable of enhancing biodiversity on site.

13.16 The Council’s Biodiversity Officer is satisfied subject to the application of an 
appropriate landscape condition, this proposal will result in a net gain in biodiversity 
including biodiverse roofs following provision of best practice, provision for nesting 
boxes/spaces for swifts, appropriate climbing plants for nesting birds such as house 
sparrows landscaping to include a good diversity of nectar-rich plants to provide 
food for bumblebees and other pollinators for as much of the year as possible 
(details would need to include species list and planting plans).

Human Rights Considerations

13.17 In determining this application, the Council is required to have regard to the 
provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998. In the determination of a planning 

Page 61



42

application, Members are particularly asked to consider those sections of the 
legislation highlighted in paragraph 13.18 below. 

13.18 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits authorities (including the Council 
as local planning authority) from acting in a way which is incompatible with the 
European Convention on Human Rights. “Convention” here means the European 
Convention on Human Rights, certain parts of which were incorporated into English 
Law under the Human Rights Act 1998. Various Conventions rights are likely to 
relevant including:  

 Entitlement to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an 
independent and impartial tribunal established by the law in the determination 
of a person’s civil and political rights (Convention Article 6). This includes 
property rights and can include opportunities to be heard in the consultation 
process;

 Rights to respect for private and family life and home. Such rights may be 
restricted if the infringement is legitimate and fair and proportionate in the 
public’s interest (Convention Article 8); and 

 Peaceful enjoyment of possession (including property). This does not impair the 
right to enforce such laws as the State deems necessary to control the use of 
property in accordance with the general interest (First Protocol, Article 1). The 
European Court has recognised that “regard must be had to the fair balance 
that has to be struck between competing interests of the individual and of the 
community as a whole”

13.19 This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning 
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council 
as local planning authority.

13.20 Members need to satisfy themselves that the measures which are proposed to be 
taken to minimise, inter alia, the adverse effects of noise, construction and general 
disturbance are acceptable and that any potential interference with Article 8 rights 
will be legitimate and justified.

13.21 Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in the exercise of the 
Council’s planning authority’s power and duties. Any interference with a Convention 
right must be necessary and proportionate.

13.22 Members must, therefore, carefully consider the balance to be struck between 
individual rights and the wider public interest.

13.23 As set out above, it is necessary, having regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, to 
take into account any interference with private property rights protected by the 
European Convention on Human Rights and ensure that the interference is 
proportionate and in the public interest.

13.24 In this context, the balance to be struck between individual rights and the wider 
public interest has been carefully considered. Officers consider that any interference 
with Convention rights is justified.

Page 62



43

Financial Considerations

13.25 Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) requires 
that in determining planning applications, the authority shall have regard to 
(amongst other things) any local finance considerations, so far as material to the 
application. 

13.26 Section 70(4) defines “local finance consideration” as:

 A grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, 
provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or

 Sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in 
payment of Community Infrastructure Levy.  

13.27 Members are reminded that that the London Mayoral CIL became operational from 
1 April 2012 and that Borough’s Community Infrastructure Levy came into effect on 
1st April 2015.  Both of which are payable (subject to certain exceptions) on 
floorspace created by development.  

13.28 Tower Hamlets CIL liability would be approximately £1,345,710 (subject to 
indexation) and the London CIL liability would be approximately £495,740 (subject 
to indexation). The Committee may take these estimates into consideration when 
determining the application.

14 CONCLUSION

14.1 All other relevant policies and considerations have been taken into account.  
Planning permission should be approved for the reasons set out in 
RECOMMENDATION section of this report.

Page 63



44

Site Location Map 

Page 64



45

Appendix 1 

Approved Drawings: 

16091_(00)_P001             Rev P01
16091_(00)_P099             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P100             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P101             Rev P01
16091_(00)_P102             Rev P01
16091_(00)_P103             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P104             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P105             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P106             Rev P03
16091_(00)_P200             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P201             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P202             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P203             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P300             Rev P01
16091_(00)_P301             Rev P01
16091_(00)_P302             Rev P01
16091_(00)_P303             Rev P02
16091_(00)_P304             Rev P01
16091_(00)_P305             Rev P01
16091_(00)_P306             Rev P02

16091_(01)_P099             Rev P01 
16091_(01)_P100             Rev P01
16091_(01)_P101             Rev P01
16091_(01)_P102             Rev P01
16091_(01)_P103             Rev P01
16091_(01)_P104             Rev P01
16091_(01)_P200             Rev P01
16091_(01)_P201             Rev P01
16091_(01)_P202             Rev P01
16091_(01)_P203            Rev P01

Documents

 Transport Assessment (January, 2017)
 Geo-Environmental Investigation (January, 2017)
 Noise and Vibration Impact Assessment (January, 2017)
 Air Quality Assessment (January, 2017) 
 Design & Access Statement (January, 2017)
 SuDS Strategy (January, 2017)
 Energy Statement, Issue 5 (July 2017) 
 Typical Facade Treatments Drawing (received 11 July 2017)

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Committee:
Development 

Date: 
9 August 2017

Classification: 
Unrestricted

Agenda Item Number:

Report of: 
Director of Place

Case Officer:
Kevin Crilly

Title: Applications for Planning Permission 

Ref No:  PA/16/01978
  

Ward: St Katharines and Wapping

1.0 APPLICATION DETAILS

Location: Brussels Wharf, Glamis Road, E1W 3TD

Existing Use: Leisure activities (D2 use)

Proposal: PA/16/00988 

Development of 50 x 8.5m natural swimming pool and 
kid's pool incorporating a surfaced beach area and sun 
terrace, changing rooms, toilet, disabled facilities and 
kiosk (Use Class D2, A1-A3).
A café restaurant incorporating 1st floor viewing 
platform and integrated public toilet block and ground 
floor level (Use Class A3)
Ecological improvements to Shadwell Basin including 
new wet land park with improved fishing pitches
A new foot bridge and decked area (Science Deck). A 
new canoe polo court in Shadwell Basin

Drawings and documents: 519-PL-000 REV A, 519-PL-001 REV. B,  519-PL-010, 
519-PL-010/1, 519-PL-011, 519-PL-012, 
519-PL-013, 519-PL-014, 519-PL-015, 
519-PL-016, 519-PL-017, 519-PL-020 REV A, 
519-PL-021, 519-PL-022 REV A, 519-PL-023, 
519-PL-024, 519-PL-025 REV A, 519-PL-026 REV A, 
519-PL-027 REV A, 519-PL-030, 519-PL-031, 
519-PL-032, 519-PL-033, 519-PL-040 REV A, 
519-PL-41 REV A, 519-PL-042 REV A,
519-PL-043 REV A, 519-PL-050, 519-PL-051, 455-3
519-PL-000/1, 519-PL-001/1, 
Design and Access Statement rev. A - 6th March 2017

Applicant: Shadwell Basin Outdoor Activity Centre With The 
Turks Head Charity

Ownership: London Borough of Tower Hamlets

Historic Building: None. However the proposal lies within the setting of a 
Grade II* listed Wapping Hydraulic Power Station

Page 67

Agenda Item 5.2



2

Conservation Area: Wapping Wall Conservation Area

2.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

2.1 This application is reported to the Development Committee as the proposal has 
attracted 39 letters in objection.

2.2 The Local Planning Authority has considered this application against the Council’s 
adopted planning policies contained in the London Borough of Tower Hamlets adopted 
Core Strategy (2010) and Managing Development Document (2013) in addition to the 
London Plan (2016) as well as the National Planning Policy Framework and all other 
material considerations. 

2.2 The proposal involves the development of the Brussels Wharf site to incorporate an 
outdoor natural swimming pool and associated changing facilities, an ancillary 
restaurant and viewing platform, additional decking, walking bridge and terraced 
seating, and ecological improvements to the Shadwell Basin including a new wetland 
park with improved fishing pitches.

2.3 The proposed development would bring a number of benefits to the locality including 
the utilisation of an underused area of land for an enhanced, fully accessible leisure 
provision, biodiversity enhancements and public realm improvements. The design of 
the proposed buildings are also supported in terms of its layout, scale and appearance. 

2.4 It would preserve the character and appearance of the Wapping Wall Conservation 
Area but would result in ‘less than substantial harm’ to the setting of the grade II* listed 
Pumping Station. This harm has been weighed against the public benefits identified 
above and the proposal has been considered in the context of paragraph 134 of the 
NPPF.  Officers have concluded that the public benefits outweigh the identified harm 
and this view accords with that of Historic England.  

2.4  The proposal would not adversely impact the amenity of surrounding neighbouring 
residents and building occupiers, and would also afford future occupiers a suitable 
level of amenity in accordance with policy SP10 (4) of the Core Strategy (2010) and 
policy DM25 of the Managing Development Document (2013) and is thus acceptable in 
amenity terms.

2.5 Subject to conditions, the proposal would not have an adverse impact upon the local 
highway network, would provide appropriate cycle parking arrangements, and would 
be serviced in an appropriate manner.

2.6 Officers accept that a large number of residents have expressed concerns about 
the potential impacts the proposed use would have on the operation of the 
highway and parking as well as anti-social behaviour levels within the surrounding 
area and the resultant increase that is perceived by the application. Officers are 
satisfied that subject to conditions the impact upon local residents can be suitably 
mitigated

2.7 In conclusion, officers consider that the benefits of the proposal, including the 
provision of a community swimming facility, the uplift in employment and its role in 
supporting the wider economy and the ecological improvements would outweigh 
any harm identified.

Page 68



3

3.0 RECOMMENDATION

3.1 That the Committee resolve to GRANT planning permission subject to:

 
3.1 That the Corporate Director of place is delegated authority to issue the planning 

permission and impose conditions and informatives to secure the following matters:

1. Time Limit
2. Approved Plans
3. Construction management plan
4. Further details and samples of all materials
5. Hours of Operation
6. No restaurant service on viewing terrace
7. Landscape Management Plan
8. Scheme of Lighting
9. Heritage Interpretation Strategy 
10. Wetland Monitoring and Management Plan
11. Contaminated Land Investigation
12. Secure Accessible Car Parking Spaces
13. Details of Cycle Facilities
14. Travel Plan
15. Servicing and Management Plan
16. Scheme of Highway Improvements

4.0 PROPOSAL AND LOCATION DETAILS

Proposal

4.1 The application proposes the development of 50 x 8.5m natural swimming pool and 
12m x 12m children’s pool incorporating a surfaced beach area and sun terrace, 
changing rooms, toilet, disabled facilities and kiosk (Use Class D2 and A1). A ground 
floor café restaurant is proposed to the north east of the site with an external viewing 
terrace located at first floor.

4.2 A new footbridge and decked science area are proposed to the south west of the site 
as well as ecological improvements to the Shadwell Basin including a new wetland 
park with improved fishing pitches.

Page 69



4

Figure 1: Photo of the existing site looking west

Figure 2: Artists impression of the proposed lido

Site and Surroundings

4.3 The site is located within the St Katharine’s and Wapping Ward and is 85 metres north 
of the River Thames. The entire site boundary (9,165 sqm) consists of the ‘Shadwell 
Old Basin’ (the body of water central to the site), ‘Brussels Wharf’ (located to the east 
end of the site) and the ‘Shadwell Basin Walkway’ which starts from Shadwell Upper 

Page 70



5

Lock Canal and runs along the southern edge of the site terminating to the west, by the 
access entrance to Glamis Road.

4.4 The entire basin (both old and new) is designated ‘Open Space’ and a ‘Site of 
Importance for Nature Conservation’ (SINC). The site is located within a flood risk area 
(Flood Zone 3) and is a constituent of the Blue Ribbon Network.

4.5 The land is owned by the Tower Hamlets Council and is leased to ‘Shadwell Pierhead’ 
on a 50 year lease (beginning 12-03-1997 and ending 12-03-2047). The nearest town 
centre is ‘Wapping Lane Neighbourhood centre’ which is located 645 metres to the 
south west. 

4.6 The basin is currently used for water activities by the Shadwell Basin Outdoor Activity 
Centre as well as fishing exclusively by the Shadwell Basin Fishing Club. The 
pedestrian walkways are predominantly used by residents living nearby, runners and 
other visitors to the area, particularly tourists.

4.7 The surrounding area consists primarily of residential uses, particularly on the west, 
north and eastern edges of Shadwell New Basin. Other land uses located further south 
and along Wapping Wall include A4 (Prospect of Whitby Public House) and some 
professional services. The construction of the Thames Tideway Tunnel is currently on-
going at a site 200 metres to the north east of Brussels Wharf.     

4.8 The site is located within the Wapping Wall Conservation Area. The Grade II* listed 
Wapping Hydraulic Power Station is located directly south site as is the Grade II listed 
Prospect of Whitby Public House located at 57 Wapping Wall. Across Shadwell Basin 
on an elevated plateau is the rear of the Grade II* listed St Paul’s Church which fronts 
The Highway.    

Page 71



6

Fig. 3 Site with neighbouring listed building highlighted in pink

Planning History

4.9 PA-72-00771 -Use of the site as temporary lorry security park. (Refused – 29/12/1972)

4.10 PA-76-00660 - Use of water, land and public building for recreational and residential 
purposes for a period of 5 years. (Permitted – 15/03/1976)

4.11 PA-80-0091 -Erection of boat workshops and flammables store.(Permitted-14/08/1981)

4.12 WP-88-00230 - Pedestrian access ramp from Quay edge to Pontoons in Shadwell 
Basin. (Permitted – 30/11/1988)

4.13 PA-88-00713 -Installation of new entrance gates, floodlights, lighting columns and 
associated landscaping. (Permitted – 08/03/1988)

4.14 PA-88-00714 - Erection of park gates. (Permitted – 08/03/1988)

4.15 WP-95-00085 -Extension of use of watersports centre (D2) to include nursery school 
(D1) (Permitted – 21/06/1995)

5.0 POLICY FRAMEWORK

5.1 Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires that the 
determination of these applications must be made in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

5.2 For details of the status of relevant policies see the front sheet for “Planning 
Applications for Determination” agenda items. The list below is not an exhaustive list of 
policies however; it contains some of the most relevant ones to the application:

Page 72



7

5.3 Government Planning Policy 

National Planning Policy Framework 2012
National Planning Practice Guidance (NPPG) 

5.4 London Plan 2016

Policy 2.15: Town Centres
Policy 3.19: Sports Facilities 
Policy 3.6: Children and Young People’s Play and Informal Recreation Facilities 
Policy 4.6: Support for Enhancement of Arts, Culture, Sport and Entertainment 
Policy 4.7: Retail & Town Centre Development 
Policy 5.1: Climate Change Mitigation 
Policy 5.2: Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions
Policy 5.3: Sustainable Design and Construction 
Policy 5.5: Decentralised Energy Networks 
Policy 5.6: Decentralised Energy Networks in Development Proposals
Policy 5.7: Renewable Energy
Policy 5.10: Urban Greening 
Policy 5.11: Green Roofs and Development Site Environs
Policy 5.12: Flood Risk Management 
Policy 5.13: Sustainable Drainage 
Policy 5.20: Aggregates 
Policy 5.21: Contaminated Land 
Policy 6.3: Assessing Effects of Development on Transport Capacity
Policy 6.9: Cycling  
Policy 6.10: Walking
Policy 6.13 Parking
Policy 7.2: An Inclusive Environment 
Policy 7.3: Designing Out Crime
Policy 7.4: Local Character
Policy 7.5: Public Realm
Policy 7.6: Architecture 
Policy 7.8: Heritage Assets and Archaeology
Policy 7.18: Protecting Open Space and Addressing Deficiency
Policy 7.19: Biodiversity and Access to Nature 
Policy 7.24: Blue Ribbon Network 
Policy 7.27: Blue Ribbon Network: Supporting Infrastructure and Recreational Use
Policy 7.28: Restoration of the Blue Ribbon Network 

5.5 Tower Hamlets Core Strategy 2010

Policy SP01: Refocusing on Our Town Centres
Policy SP03: Creating Healthy and Liveable Neighbourhoods
Policy SP04: Creating a Green and Blue Grid 
Policy SP08: Making Connected Places
Policy SP09: Creating Attractive and Safe Streets and Spaces
Policy SP10: Creating Distinct and Durable Places
Policy SP11: Working towards a Zero-carbon Borough
Policy SP12: Delivering Placemaking

5.6 Managing Development Document 2013
 

Policy DM0: Delivery Sustainable Development 
Policy DM1: Developments within the Town Centre Hierarchy 

Page 73



8

Policy DM2: Local Shops
Policy DM8: Community Infrastructure
Policy DM10: Delivering Open Space
Policy DM11: Living Buildings and Biodiversity  
Policy DM12: Water Spaces
Policy DM13: Sustainable Drainage 
Policy DM14: Managing Waste 
Policy DM20: Supporting a Sustainable Transport Network
Policy DM22: Parking
Policy DM23: Streets and Public Realm
Policy DM24: Place-sensitive Design  
Policy DM25: Amenity
Policy DM27: Heritage and the Historic Environment
Policy DM30: Contaminated land and development and storage of hazardous 
substances.

Other relevant policy/ guidance 

Wapping Wall Conservation Area Appraisal (2009)

6.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSE

6.1 The views of the Directorate of Place are expressed in the MATERIAL PLANNING 
CONSIDERATIONS section below.

6.2 The following were consulted regarding the application:

LBTH Transportation & Highways

6.3 In principle there is no objection to the proposal from Highways (given that the 
applicant has worked with the Council’s highways officers to provide requested 
information) subject to conditions. The proposal for the funding of a new Zebra cross 
on Glamis Road is supported in principle however the location still needs to be agreed 
in order to ensure the bridge is not impeded. The applicant’s transport consultants 
have been pro-active in trying to ascertain transport mode usage from other lidos in 
London to show that car parking associated with the proposal should not have a 
significant impact on the adjacent highways. The applicant has committed to a travel 
plan which aims to reduce any reliance on vehicles and any advertising for the 
proposal shall encourage this.

LBTH Conservation and Design Officer

6.4 No objections subject to conditions requiring submission of material samples

LBTH Contaminated Land 

6.5 No objection subject to a condition requiring the submission of a contaminated land 
report.

LBTH Asset Management

6.6 No comment

LBTH Energy Efficiency

Page 74



9

6.7 No comment

LBTH Biodiversity

6.8 The proposals would lead to a small loss of area of the SINC (Site of Importance for 
Nature Conservation), as it would not be appropriate to include the new lido in the 
SINC. However, the proposals to create wetlands around the edges of the basin would 
be a very significant biodiversity enhancement, more than offsetting the small loss of 
area, and ensuring a big net gain of biodiversity. It will make a significant contribution 
to the Local Biodiversity Action Plan target to create new reed beds. Ongoing 
monitoring and management of the new wetland vegetation, in parallel with changes in 
salinity and water quality, will be essential to ensure the success of the enhancements. 
This is likely to require regular input from someone with expertise in aquatic 
ecosystems. A condition should require the production of a monitoring and 
management plan, including an indication of who will provide the necessary expert 
input.

LBTH Communities, Localities and Culture

6.9 No comment

LBTH Parks and Open Spaces

6.10 No comment

External Consultees

Crime Prevention Officer

6.11 No comment

Historic England

6.12 Although the development would result in some harm to the setting of the listed 
building and the docks the proposals present an opportunity to engage the public in 
this fascinating part of Wapping’s history and we consider that this has the potential to 
be of much heritage-related public benefit. 

Environment Agency

6.13 Raised no objections to the proposals subject to a number of conditions. Although the 
site is located within Flood Zone 3 and is protected to a very high standard by the 
Thames Tidal flood defences (up to a 1 in 1000 (0.1%) chance in any year), flood 
modelling showed that the site would be at risk if there was a breach in the defences or 
if the defences were to be overtopped. Safe refuge was identified by the EA within the 
higher floors of the development and a safe means of access and/or egress in the 
event of flooding has been identified.

Sport for England

6.14 Sport England would not support the application as it has not been demonstrated that 
there is a strategic need for the swimming facilities.

Transport for London 

Page 75



10

6.15 The site registers a Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) of 4 on a scale of 1 to 
6b which indicates a good level of accessibility.

The applicant proposes a car free development, except for 3 Blue Badge spaces, 
which is welcomed, but TfL request the applicant clarify how big they will be. Parking 
spaces designated for Blue Badge use should be 2.4metres wide, 4.8metres long with 
a zone 1.2 wide between spaces and at the rear.

The applicant intends to provide 46 cycle spaces, which is in excess of London plan 
standards and welcomed by TfL. TfL also support measure to provide more cycle 
spaces, should there be more demand. Cycle parking is located at the two entrances 
and the plans indicate that they will be accessible for all users and for all types of 
cycles. TfL therefore support the cycle parking arrangements proposed.

The applicant has forecast the amount of walking, cycling and pedestrian trips using 
TRAVL data. The applicant should note that TRAVL data is considered out of date and 
TfL recommend using TRICS. Furthermore TfL suggest the applicant clarify the 
amount of trips made by public transport, disseminated by mode. However, due to the 
nature of the development, TfL accept that the site will be busiest in between the AM 
and PM peak and therefore content that there will not be a material impact on the 
Transport Network.

Servicing will take place from a dedicated bay, next to the Blue Badge parking spaces, 
however this is unclear on the plans and TfL request the applicant clarify. the applicant 
should also clarify that a servicing vehicle and enter and exit the site in forward gear. 
TfL are content with the proposed refuse arrangements.

The applicant should produce a framework Construction Logistics Plan (CLP), secured 
by condition. The applicant has submitted a Travel Plan which tfL assessed using the 
ATTrBuTE testing system which the Travel Plan passed.

Greater London Archaeological Advisory Service

6.16 No comment

London Wildlife Trust

6.17 The development will result direct encroachments into the boundary of the current 
Shadwell Basin SINC, reducing it in size. However, the proposed habitat 
improvements clearly mitigate the loss of a small portion of the open water, and in 
effect result in a net gain for biodiversity if managed well. The development and 
delivery of a 10-year management plan should help to identify and address any 
problems that may arise from the use of the site. We have already indicated our 
willingness to assist the applicants in developing such a management plan if 
permission is granted.

7.0 LOCAL REPRESENTATION 

7.1 A total of 669 planning notification letters were sent to nearby properties on 03-08-
2016 as detailed on the attached site plan. 4 site notices were also displayed along the 
edges of the site on 16-08-2016 and the application was advertised in local press on 
11-08-2016. A further consultation was undertaken on 29-03-2017.

7.2 The number of representations received in response to notification and publicity of the 
application is as follows:

Page 76



11

No of individual responses: Objecting: 39
Supporting: 20

7.3 The following comments summarise the objection raised in relation to the proposal, the 
majority of these points will be addressed in the material considerations section of the 
report, however where issues are non-material to the determination of the application 
these are identified below

Business Plan
1. Objectors questioned whether the applicants had suitable prior experience in running 

an enterprise and questioned whether the project would be financially viable. 

Noise and Nuisance
2. The lido would be open from 6.30 am to 10 pm Monday to Sunday and the 

Café/restaurant would be open 8 am to 11 pm Monday to Sunday. Objectors raised 
concerns to the opening hours citing noise/nuisance particularly to neighbouring 
residents. Objectors request that if the application is approved then the attachment of a 
condition preventing use as a venue for private functions or for music events is 
recommended.   

Litter, anti-social behaviour and security   
3. The increased number of visitors to the area would result in more litter being dropped. 

It is likely that trespassers may try to gain access to the pool when the facility is closed 
and that the pool may encourage unauthorised swimming outside the designated 
swimming area.  

Congestion and Parking
4. Parking restrictions would be in force Monday to Friday from 8.30 am to 5.30 pm. The 

lido/café would therefore be open to 11 pm at a time when parking restrictions are not 
in force and therefore would increase on-street parking pressures. Demand for on-
street parking would be further exacerbated by the lack of nearby public car parking 
facilities after 7pm. Tobacco Dock located 700 metres from the site is the nearest car 
parking facility. This facility is scheduled to close to the public at 7pm on non-event 
days.    

Environmental Impacts 
5. No Environmental Impact Assessment has been undertaken and light pollution impacts 

on wildlife or neighbouring residents has not been assessed.

Out of Centre Community Facility and A1/A3 Use (does not accord to Policy 
DM8, DM1)

6. The development would not take place within or on the edge of a designated town 
centre. No justification has been put forward for a new swimming pool particularly 
when St George’s swimming pool is located 0.5 miles from the site. The new lido may 
also threaten the viability of the existing swimming pool. 

Removal of ‘Open Space’ 
7. A portion of ‘open space’ would become enclosed by the swimming pool and ancillary 

café/restaurant/facilities. The reduction in ‘Open Space’ for local people would be 
exacerbated by restricted access to King Edward Memorial Park due to the Thames 
Tideway tunnel project. 

Page 77



12

Change to the Character of the Area
8. The proposals would change the character of the area which is primarily residential. 

The proposed café/restaurant and changing facilities would obstruct views towards the 
Bascule Bridge and would not be in keeping with the surrounding buildings.  

Officer’s response
The majority of the concerns expressed above are considered within the ‘Material 
Considerations’ section of this report. It should be noted that the financial viability of 
the development is not a material consideration in determining this application.

7.4 The following comments summarise the issues raised in support of the proposal

Economic Development and Regeneration  
1. The new facility would provide a focal point for the community and would increase 

natural surveillance and assist in preventing anti-social behaviour along the edge of 
the basin. The new facilities would provide employment and would attract spending 
into local shops and businesses. The re-use of the basin would allow residents and 
visitors the opportunity to experience and discover the area’s heritage. The proposed 
new footbridge bridge and decking area would increase legibility and connectivity 
between Brussels Wharf and Wapping Woods, a route which is presently connected by 
a narrow footpath which does not provide step free access for wheelchair and 
pushchair users.     

Bio-diversity Enhancements 
2. The wetland park would improve bio-diversity within the basin and improve the quality 

of the water. The wetland park would provide a link between Wapping Woods and King 
Edward Memorial Park and provide an important habitat for wildlife.      

Health, Well-being, Sport and Education 
3. The proposals would revitalise the basin and surrounding paths by providing leisure 

facilities for the public as well as improve health and well-being and increase 
employment. The provision of a dedicated swimming area would reduce the incidents 
of people occasionally drowning in unauthorised parts of the basin. The purpose built 
facility would formalise and regulate the use of the basin for outdoor swimming which 
is already taking place. The provision of public toilets is welcomed by the community. 
The science deck and wetlands will help to engage children with nature and wildlife as 
well as promote sport and activity. The proposals would continue the historic tradition 
of outdoor bathing within the Thames as recorded from Victorian times.       

8.0 MATERIAL PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 

8.1 The main application has been assessed against all relevant policies under the 
following report headings:

1. Land Use 
2. Design
3. Amenity
4. Environmental Considerations
5. Transportation
6. Conclusion

Page 78



13

8.2.1 Land Use

8.2.2 Policy 7.18 Of the London Plan states that “the loss of protected open spaces must be 
resisted unless equivalent or better quality provision is made within the local catchment 
area”. Policy 7.28 states that “development proposals should enhance the use of the 
Blue Ribbon Network” and that “development proposals should restore and enhance 
the Blue Ribbon Network by preventing development and structures into the water 
space unless it serves a water related purpose”. Finally policy 7.30 states that 
“development within or alongside London’s docks should protect and promote the 
vitality, attractiveness and historical interest of London’s remaining dock areas by 
promoting their use for mooring visiting cruise ships and other vessels and promoting 
their use for water recreation”.

8.2.3 The Core Strategy’s vision for Wapping seeks to encourage leisure-based activities, in 
particular the “better use and animation of Wapping Basin”. The planning history shows 
that the use of the basin for leisure activities (D2) has been established since 1976. 
The leisure use was renewed and expanded in 1995 to include educational uses (D1). 
Although the latter permission expired in 1996 and no further extensions were applied 
for, the basin itself has been used by boats and other watercraft continuously for a 
period of more than 10 years, specifically by members of Shadwell Basin Outdoor 
Activity Centre. Since the existing D2 use is considered lawful only physical changes 
associated with the D2 use should be considered as part of this application.

8.2.4 It is acknowledged that Sports England in their consultation response whilst not 
objecting to the proposal were unable to support the application as it had not been 
demonstrated that there was a strategic need for such a facility within the borough. 

8.2.5 It is officers view that the proposed lido would provide an increased swimming facility 
for the borough and particularly provision of a 50m length pool which is absent from the 
borough. This is in line with Sport England’s objective of increasing the provision of 
50m training pools. Furthermore the Council’s Leisure Facilities Strategy 2008 – 2028 
states that 

‘A key objective of the Leisure Facilities Strategy is to help address gaps in the 
provision of swimming pools, sports halls and health and fitness stations now 
and in the future in order to satisfy demand from residents. A supply, demand 
and quality analysis has demonstrated that in broad terms, the following 
additional facilities will be required by 2018:

 1 to 2 additional swimming pools – needed primarily in the east and 
north east of the Borough ‘

8.2.6 Whilst it is recognized that the location of the Lido in Shadwell Basin is to the south 
west of the borough and close to the long established St Georges Pool, the two 
swimming facilities clearly offer quite different and complimentary facilities. The 
proposed 50m Lido with disabled access and potential for use as a training facility will 
clearly complement the existing facility provided by St Georges 33m indoor pool.

8.2.7 In conclusion whilst it is not possible to demonstrate a strategic need for a facility such 
as that proposed within this part of the borough it is clear that there is a need within the 
borough as a whole for additional swimming facilities. The nature  and characteristics of 
the proposal is such that it would offer an alternative to the existing swimming facilities 
providing features that are not currently catered for within the existing facilities within 
the borough. 

Page 79



14

Developing on ‘Open Space’

8.2.8 Brussels Wharf is designated ‘Open Space’ and policy SP04 of the Core Strategy 
seeks to safeguard ‘Open Space’ to ensure that development would result in no net 
loss. The policy also seeks to improve the quality and usability of existing ‘Open Space’ 
and promote open spaces as multi-functional spaces and able to cater for a range of 
activities, lifestyles, ages and needs. Policy DM10 of the Managing Development 
Document elaborates by stating that development on areas of ‘Open Space’ will only 
be allowed in exceptional circumstances. Exceptional circumstances include 
development that would provide essential facilities to ensure the function, use and 
enjoyment of the ‘Open Space’

8.2.9 The applicant proposes to insert a concrete shell within the existing old lock walls to 
form a natural swimming pool, including decking and a gravel beach. A section of the 
old basin is proposed to be partially filled in order to reduce its depth.  

8.2.10 Two buildings are proposed, one along the eastern edge of the site adjacent to Glamis 
road to accommodate changing facilities and office space and to the northern 
boundary adjacent to the dockside to accommodate an ancillary restaurant. .  

8.2.11 A proposed new footbridge will connect ‘Shadwell Basin Walkway’ to Brussels Wharf 
and would divert pedestrians away from a narrow stretch of pathway currently 
considered too narrow and obstructive (steps) to be accessible by all members of the 
public. The proposals also include a ‘science deck’ which would be designed to bring 
school pupils closer to the water’s edge, improvements to the fishing pitches and 
enhancements of the water quality through the introduction of reed beds and other 
oxygenating plant species. The proposals would improve access throughout the area 
by removing restrictive steps and would increase the amount of [useable] ‘Open 
Space’ by diversifying the range of activities that may be enjoyed within the basin itself.

Conclusion

8.2.12 In planning terms the principle of the development on ‘Open Space’ is considered 
acceptable and in accordance with policies SP04 and DM10. The development of the 
site would activate the open space and create an increased diversity of activities within 
the docks. The development would create increased access to the open space 
providing more step free access throughout the site. Additional biodiversity 
enhancements in the form of the new wetland park and ‘science deck would further 
improve the quality of open space and diversify the available activities.

8.2.13 Given the proposed bio-diversity enhancements that would result as part of the 
proposed wetlands area and the improvements to the open space the development 
within the open space is considered to improve the quality of the open space and 
would comply with policies SP04 of the Core Strategy and DM10 of the Managing 
Development Document.

Restaurant use

8.2.14 The Council’s policy SP01 of the Core Strategy (2010) with objectives SO4 and SO5 
seek to ensure that the scale and type of development is proportionate to the town 
centre hierarchy and to promote mixed use at the edge of town centres and along main 
streets. The policy also seeks to ensure that town centres are active, well-used and 
safe during day and night and to encourage evening and night time economy uses that 
contribute to the vibrancy, inclusiveness and economic vitality. 

Page 80



15

8.2.15 Policy DM1 of the Managing Development Document (2013) expands on strategic 
policy SP01 and, to support the vitality and viability of town centres, specifically directs 
restaurants and drinking establishments to within the boundaries of designated town 
centres.

8.2.16 It is acknowledged that the proposed restaurant would be located outside of a town 
centre. However, following discussions with the applicant it was agreed to significantly 
reduce the scale of the proposed restaurant use as well as limiting the opening hours 
to reflect the lido opening times. It is now officer’s view that, given the reduced scale 
and the reduced opening times, the restaurant would be considered ancillary to the D2 
use. It is therefore likely to attract visitors who are frequenting the lido facilities and it 
reduces the potential for the restaurant to become a destination in itself. It is not 
envisaged that the ancillary restaurant would have a harmful impact of the vitality and 
viability of nearby town centres.

8.3 Design and Impact on the conservation area and setting listed building

8.3.1 Statutory tests for the assessment of planning applications affecting listed buildings or 
conservation areas and their settings are found in the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Areas) Act under: section 72(1)1990 which states that “special attention 
shall be paid to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance 
of that area”; and Section 66(1) which requires decision makers determining planning 
application that would affect a listed building or its setting to ‘have special regard to the 
desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any features of special 
architectural or historic interest which it possesses’. 

8.3.2 The approach taken by the Courts in the application of this legislation (which is echoed 
in the NPPF (as explained further below)) is that decision makers should give 
‘considerable weight and importance’ to avoiding harm to listed buildings and their 
settings, and correspondingly to any harm to the character and appearance of 
conservation areas. Special regard and weight should first be given to assessing 
whether the proposal causes such harm and the desirability of avoiding that harm. And 
where such harm may arise then considerable weight and importance should be given 
to avoiding that harm in the carrying out the balancing of the benefits and impacts of 
the proposal. 

8.3.3 The NPPF is the key policy document at national level, relevant to the formation of 
local plans and to the assessment of individual planning applications.  The parts of this 
document relevant to ‘Heritage, Design and Appearance’ are Chapter 7 ‘Requiring 
good design’ and Chapter 12 ‘Conserving and Enhancing the Historic Environment.’

8.3.4 Chapter 7 explains that the Government attaches great importance to the design of the 
built environment.  It advises that it is important to plan for high quality and inclusive 
design, including individual buildings, public and private spaces and wider area 
development schemes.  Planning decisions should not seek to impose architectural 
styles, stifle innovation or originality, but it is proper to promote or reinforce local 
distinctiveness.

8.3.5 Chapter 12 relates to the implications of a development for the historic environment 
and provides assessment principles.  It also identifies the way in which any impacts 
should be considered, and how they should be balanced with the benefits of a scheme. 
When considering the impact of a proposed development on the significance of a 
designated heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation.  
The more important the asset, the greater the weight should be.  Significance can be 

Page 81



16

harmed or lost through alteration or destruction of the heritage asset or development 
within its setting.

8.3.6 Paragraphs 133 and 134 address the balancing of harm to designated heritage assets 
against public benefits.  Proposals that would result in substantial harm or total loss of 
significance should be refused, unless it can be demonstrated that the substantial 
harm or loss is necessary to achieve substantial public benefits that outweigh that 
harm or loss.  Where less than substantial harm arises, this harm should be weighed 
against the public benefits of a proposal, including its retention in its optimum viable 
use.

8.3.7 Paragraph 126 of the NPPF states that in developing a positive strategy for the 
conservation and enjoyment of the historic environment local planning authorities 
should take account of:

 the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 
and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation;

 the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 
sustainable communities including their economic vitality;

 the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 
character and distinctiveness; and 

 opportunities to draw on the contribution made by the historic environment 
made by the historic environment to the character of a place.

8.3.8 Policy 7.8 of the London Plan (2016) states that development affecting heritage assets 
and their settings should conserve their significance, by being sympathetic to their 
form, scale, materials and architectural detail. Policy 7.9 of the London Plan (2016) 
states that the significance of heritage assets should be assessed when development 
is proposed and schemes designed so that the heritage significance is recognised both 
in their own right and as catalysts for regeneration.

8.3.9 Policy SP10(2) of the Council’s adopted Core Strategy (2010) seeks to protect and 
enhance the Borough’s Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings and their settings and 
encourages and supports development that preserves and enhances the heritage 
value of the immediate and surrounding environment and wider setting.

8.3.10 Policy DM27(1) of the Council’s adopted Managing Development Document (2013) 
requires development to protect and enhance the Borough’s heritage assets, their 
setting and their significance as key elements of developing the sense of place of the 
Borough’s distinctive ‘Places’.

8.3.11 In this case the relevant designated heritage assets are the Wapping Wall 
Conservation Area and the setting of the neighbouring Grade II* listed Wapping 
Hydraulic Power Station.

8.3.12 The 2009 Wapping Wall Conservation Area appraisal identifies significant nearby 
views and landmarks

 “The Wapping Hydraulic Pumping Station is a successful example of the creative 
recycling of historic buildings, a type of development still encouraged that preserves 
and interprets the area’s character and cultural history”

 “The Wapping Wall street corridor opens out as it curves around the boundary wall of 
Wapping Pumping Station onto Garnet Street. The view to the north is framed by the 
restored iron bascule bridge”.

Page 82



17

 “The Shadwell Basin provides a clear space over which the historic church spires of St 
Paul’s and St George in the East can be viewed. This maintains a visual link between 
the riverfront and the neighbourhoods to the north”.

8.3.13 The proposals include the introduction of a single storey ‘L shaped’ building 
accommodating changing and shower facilities and a linear two storey building 
consisting of the café/restaurant, toilets and external viewing platform at first floor. 
These structures are located in the most sensitive part of the site in relative close to 
the boundary with the Wapping Hydraulic Pumping Station, the bascule bridge and the 
public highway running along Glamis Road.

8.3.14 Historic England have been consulted throughout the pre-application and application 
process. In their consultation response to this application. Historic England 
acknowledged ‘the opportunity that these proposals present in enlivening this 
important, yet somewhat underused, part of the Wapping Wall Conservation Area and 
raising the profile of this rare survival of the historical London Docks’. Historic England 
raised some concerns with regards ‘the lido structures which...would create a sense of 
enclosure and separation of the old lock from its basin’ and furthermore that ‘the 
entrance building and changing facilities would block views of the old lock from Glamis 
Road, which…would diminish the dockside setting of the Grade II* Hydraulic Power 
Station.

8.3.15 Historic England recognised that following discussions ‘efforts have been made to 
mitigate this impact by reducing part of the brick boundary wall to improve pedestrian 
sight lines, and by introducing more glazing into the lido structures.’ However it is 
considered that there would still be some harm albeit this harm would be reduced 
given the design changes proposed and referenced above. Historic England 
considered that ‘In accordance with Paragraph 134 of the National Planning Policy 
Framework, this harm must be weighed against any proposed public benefits in 
coming to a decision on the application…these proposals present an opportunity to 
engage the public in this fascinating part of Wapping’s history, and we consider that 
this has the potential to be of much heritage-related public benefit.’

8.3.16 Historic England recommended a condition, were the application recommended for 
approval, requiring the submission of a heritage interpretation strategy to the Council 
for approval. This would help to demonstrate how the development of the site would 
engage visitors with the history and heritage of the dock which would be considered a 
heritage related benefit of the development.

8.3.17 Amendments to the proposal have been made following negotiations between the 
applicant and Officers in order to minimise the harm to local heritage assets. This has 
been achieved by reducing the height of the front boundary wall to the site to provide 
increased pedestrian visibility into the dock and by introducing more glazing into the 
lido building to reduce the harm to the setting of the neighbouring listed building. 
Officers are of the view that the public benefits of the proposed development, in terms 
creating a publicly accessible leisure facility, the improved inclusive access to the 
dockside, the improved activation of the open space and the improved public 
engagement with the history of the dock, which would be secured by the condition 
referenced in section 8.3.16, would outweigh the less than significant harm to the 
conservation area and the setting of the neighbouring Grade II* Hydraulic Power 
Station.

Page 83



18

Design

8.3.18 The proposed single storey ‘L shaped’ building which would accommodate changing 
and shower facilities would be located adjacent to the existing boundary wall and 
Wapping Wall Road. The building would be lightweight timber framed and would 
project approximately 1.5m above the height of the existing wall. Given the lightweight 
nature of the building and the existing boundary wall the building would be an 
unobtrusive and sympathetic addition.

8.3.19 The proposed café–restaurant building and viewing terrace would be a more prominent 
addition given its height and location. Throughout the course of the application, the 
scale of this building has been reduced from a two storey building to a single storey 
building with viewing terrace which improves the relationship with the bridge. Metal 
cladding is proposed to this building which draws inspiration from the existing adjacent 
bascule bridge. The design of this building would sit comfortably beside the bridge and 
would be considered of an appropriate scale and design. 

8.3.20 Details of all the external materials to be used on both buildings would be required by 
condition to ensure the development respects the surrounding context. 

Accessibility

8.3.21 The development has been designed to provide step free access throughout the site 
with step free access to the walkway around the wharf and the wetland area. The Lido 
would also offer step free swimming facilities, with specific provision for disabled users, 
a feature which is not available at the nearby St Georges Pool.

8.3.22 The proposed inclusive access would be a substantial benefit and allow visitors of all 
motilities to access and enjoy the open space, the wetlands and the lido and restaurant 
facilities.

8.4 Neighbouring Amenity 

8.4.1 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP10 (4) states that the Council will ensure that 
development protects amenity, and promotes well-being (including preventing loss of 
privacy and access to daylight and sunlight); and uses design and construction 
techniques to reduce the impact of noise and air pollution.

8.4.2 Policy DM25 of the Managing Development Document seeks to protect and where 
possible improve the amenity of surrounding residents including the amenity of the 
surrounding public realm. Development must not result in an unacceptable loss of 
privacy nor enable an unreasonable level of overlooking, an unacceptable loss of 
outlook, an unacceptable material deterioration of the sunlight and daylight conditions 
or result in the overshadowing of private amenity space. The council will also seek to 
ensure that the amenity of local residents, building occupiers and public realm users is 
protected from unacceptable levels of noise, vibration, artificial light and odours.  

8.4.3 The proposed buildings would be 30m from the nearest residential building to the north 
on Peartree Lane and would be 13m, across Wapping Wall to residential properties 
within Prospect Wharf. These distances, combined with the single storey nature of the 
proposal would not raise any amenity concerns with regards daylight, sunlight, privacy 
and overlooking or sense of enclosure.

Page 84



19

Lighting

8.4.4 The applicant is not proposing to install an extensive amount of lighting outside of the 
curtilage of the lido building. Given the existing street lighting to the public pathway 
there would be no requirement for further high level lighting and it is unlikely that there 
would be significant light spillage to the detriment of neighbouring amenity. 
Notwithstanding this, a condition has been recommended requiring a lighting strategy 
for the whole site is submitted to the Council for approval to ensure there would be no 
detrimental impact on the amenity of neighbouring residential premises

Noise and disturbance

8.4.5 It is proposed that the lido would be open to the public between 6.30am and 10pm with 
the last entry at 9.30pm, although these hours would vary depending on seasonal 
demand. Following discussions with the applicant the proposed hours of operation for 
restaurant have been reduced and it is proposed that this would be open between 8am 
to 10pm. The size of the restaurant has been reduced from the original submission and 
would now be located on the ground floor only with a maximum of 60 covers. The 
reduced scale and reduced hours of operation of the restaurant would help to limit the 
potential impact on neighbouring residents from noise and disturbance.

8.4.6 Whilst it is acknowledged that concerns have been raised by some residents that the 
development could result in an increase anti-social behaviour, it is officer’s view that 
the extension and formalising of the D2 recreational use would in fact help to reduce 
the existing anti-social behaviour issues that have been referenced in a number of the 
public consultation responses. The formalising of the swimming facilities and the 
managed entry to the lido, as well as the activation of the space created by the 
ancillary restaurant would create natural surveillance during opening hours. The Lido 
would also be secured when not open with motion sensor lighting to the curtilage 
proposed to discouraging access outside of opening times. As detailed above, the final 
lighting strategy would be secured by condition.

8.4.7 Furthermore a condition requiring the submission of a noise impact assessment and a 
condition preventing the restaurant from serving customers on the viewing terrace 
would be recommended to ensure there would be no impact on neighbouring residents 
from  noise and disturbance associated with the development 

8.5 Environmental Considerations

8.5.1 Policy 2.18 of the London Plan (2016) states that “development proposals should 
incorporate appropriate elements of green infrastructure that are integrated into the 
wider network including the Blue Ribbon Network”. Policy 7.19 states that 
“development proposals should, wherever possible, make a positive contribution to the 
protection, enhancement, creation and management of biodiversity”.

8.5.2 The Council’s Core Strategy policy SP03 states that development proposal should 
“minimise and mitigate the impact of noise and air pollution”. SP04 states that the 
Council will “promote and support new development that provides green roofs, green 
terraces and other measures to green the built environment” and that “all new 
development that has to be located in a high risk flood zone must demonstrate that it is 
safe [and] that all new development across the borough does not increase the risk and 
impact of flooding”.

8.5.3 The Council’s Managing Development Document Policy DM11 states that 
“development will be required to provide elements of a ‘living building’” and will be 

Page 85



20

required to deliver “biodiversity enhancements in accordance with the Council’s Local 
Biodiversity Action Plan”.

8.5.4 The Council’s biodiversity officer is content that the proposed habitat enhancements 
being proposed as part of this application, which include

8.5.5 Subject to further details of the biodiversity enhancements proposed being secured by 
condition, officers are therefore content that the proposal is acceptable in biodiversity 
terms as it accords with relevant planning policy.

8.6 Transport 

8.6.1 According to paragraphs 32 and 35 of the NPPF local planning authorities should take 
account of whether safe and suitable access to the site can be achieved for all people; 
and whether development creates safe and secure layouts which minimise conflicts 
between traffic and cyclists or pedestrians, and avoid street clutter. 

8.6.2 Policy 6.3 of the London Plan states that development proposals should ensure that 
impacts on transport capacity and the transport network, at both corridor and local level 
are fully assessed. Development should not adversely affect safety on the transport 
network.

8.6.3 The Council’s Managing Development Document policy DM20 states that 
“development will need to demonstrate it is properly integrated with the transport 
network and has no unacceptable impacts on the capacity and safety of the transport 
network or on any planned improvements and/or amendments to the transport 
network”. Policy DM21 states that “development that generates a significant number of 
vehicle trips for goods or materials during its construction and operational phases will 
need to demonstrate how movement by water and/or rail, the use of low emission 
vehicles, electric vehicles and bicycles has been prioritised”. Policy DM22 states that 
“in order to ensure suitable provision for cyclists, development will be required to: 
meet, and preferably exceed, the minimum standards for cycle parking”.

Car Parking

8.6.4 No car parking, other than three accessible spaces, is proposed on site. It is 
acknowledged that due to the opening hours, which extend past the controlled parking 
zone hours on the surrounding streets, there is a potential for on street parking to 
occur, particularly at weekends. The applicant has indicated that they are committed to 
implementing a transport strategy to encourage users of the site to travel using 
sustainable transport methods and encourage walking, cycling and public transport as 
the preferred alternatives to the car. 

8.6.5  The transport consultants have been pro-active in trying to ascertain transport mode 
usage from other lidos in London to show that car parking associated with the proposal 
shouldn’t be a problem.  Because of the nature of the proposal it is difficult to quantify 
the catchment area and mode of travel of visitors but based on information from other 
Lidos the majority of visitors appear to be local and travel by foot, cycle or use public 
transport. It is necessary to monitor potential car use and the applicant has committed 
to this via a travel plan. This will be the major tool, together with advertising, in 
reducing the potential for car use.

8.6.6 Were the application approved a condition is recommended requesting details of the 
layouts of the accessible parking space and that they are retained and maintained for 
the use of registered blue badge holders only, for the life of the development. 

Page 86



21

Furthermore a condition is recommended requiring the submission of a travel plan 
detailing the methods that will be employed to reduce car traffic and encourage 
sustainable forms of transport.

8.6.7 Subject to the conditions recommended it is officers view that the potential impacts on 
the highway can be mitigated and the development would not have an unacceptable 
impact on the is in accordance with policy SP09 of the Core Strategy, policy DM20 and 
DM22 of the Managing Development Document (2013). 

Cycling and Pedestrian Access

8.6.8 With regards to pedestrian and cycle access the applicants are proposing adequate 
cycle facilities in terms of numbers of spaces for both short term and long term use and 
have identified areas of land which could be used for additional cycle facilities if 
required. The applicant will be required to provide changing and washing facilities for 
staff that choose to cycle and this will secured through condition. The Travel Plan will 
also need to identify a trigger point for any additional cycle facilities. A further condition 
requiring the applicant to retain and maintain all cycle facilities for their intended use for 
the life of the development would also be recommended.

Refuse

8.6.9 Policy 5.17 of the London Plan requires all new developments to include suitable waste 
and recycling storage facilities. Policy SP05(1) of the Council’s adopted Core Strategy 
(2010) and Policy DM14(2) of the Council’s adopted Managing Development 
Document (2013) seek to implement the waste management hierarchy of reduce, 
reuse and recycle by ensuring that developments appropriately design and plan for 
waste storage and recycling facilities as a component element.

8.6.10 The application demonstrates that waste and recycling can be accommodated within 
the buildings. Further information is sought by condition to confirm the collection times 
and frequency and this will be way of waste management strategy. 

Servicing 

8.6.11 With regards servicing it is proposed that this will all take place within the site boundary 
and a full service management plan will be required as a condition to any planning 
permission which may be granted. This servicing plan will also require details of the 
tracking of service vehicles within the site to ensure they can enter and exit in a 
forward gear so as not to impact upon pedestrian or highway safety. 

Highway Improvements

8.6.12 The main building is proposed to be set back on Glamis Road creating a wider footway 
than existing and this is welcomed. It is also proposed that the applicant will fund a 
new Zebra crossing in Glamis Road through a S278 agreement and this is supported 
in principle, although the location still needs to be agreed so that the operation of the 
Glamis Road bridge is not impeded. The highways team have not identified that this 
would be necessary to make the development acceptable and as such it is not secured 
through the planning application, this is because the existing build out on the 
carriageway means that pedestrians crossing Wapping Wall from the Thames Path 
only have to traverse one half of the carriageway, ensuring that crossing at this point is 
not dangerous, Further discussions between the applicant and the highways team will 
occur through a separate process. 

Page 87



22

Human Rights Considerations

8.8.1 In determining this application the Council is required to have regard to the provisions 
of the Human Rights Act 1998. In the determination of a planning application the 
following are particularly highlighted to Members:

8.8.2 Section 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 prohibits authorities (including the Council as 
local planning authority) from acting in a way which is incompatible with the European 
Convention on Human Rights. "Convention" here means the European Convention on 
Human Rights, certain parts of which were incorporated into English law under the 
Human Rights Act 1998. Various Convention rights are likely to be relevant, including:-

 Entitlement to a fair and public hearing within a reasonable time by an 
independent and impartial tribunal established by law in the determination of a 
person's civil and political rights (Convention Article 6). This includes property 
rights and can include opportunities to be heard in the consultation process;

 Rights to respect for private and family life and home. Such rights may be 
restricted if the infringement is legitimate and fair and proportionate in the public 
interest (Convention Article 8); and

 Peaceful enjoyment of possessions (including property). This does not impair 
the right to enforce such laws as the State deems necessary to control the use 
of property in accordance with the general interest (First Protocol, Article 1). 
The European Court has recognised that "regard must be had to the fair 
balance that has to be struck between the competing interests of the individual 
and of the community as a whole".

8.8.3 This report has outlined the consultation that has been undertaken on the planning 
application and the opportunities for people to make representations to the Council as 
local planning authority.

8.8.4 Both public and private interests are to be taken into account in the exercise of the 
Council's planning authority's powers and duties. Any interference with a Convention 
right must be necessary and proportionate.

8.8.5 Members must, therefore, carefully consider the balance to be struck between 
individual rights and the wider public interest.

8.8.6 As set out above, it is necessary, having regard to the Human Rights Act 1998, to take 
into account any interference with private property rights protected by the European 
Convention on Human Rights and ensure that the interference is proportionate and in 
the public interest.

9.0 EQUALITIES ACT CONSIDERATIONS

The Equality Act 2010 provides protection from discrimination in respect of certain protected 
characteristics, namely: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, 
religion or beliefs, gender and sexual orientation. It places the Council under a legal duty to 
have due regard to the advancement of equality in the exercise of its powers including 
planning powers. Officers have taken this into account in the assessment of the application 

Page 88



23

and the Committee must be mindful of this duty inter alia when determining all planning 
applications. In particular the Committee must pay due regard to the need to: 

 eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that 
is prohibited by or under the Act; 

 advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; and 

 foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it.

The protected characteristics set out in the Equality Act are: age, disability, gender 
reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex and sexual orientation. 
The Equality Act acknowledges that compliance with the duties set out may involve treating 
some persons more favourably than others, but that this does not permit conduct that would 
otherwise be prohibited under the Act.

The proposed development would create improved access to the site for people with 
disabilities and older people with mobility issues by providing step free access throughout the 
site and to the lido facilities. This is considered to be a benefit to the scheme. 

With regard to gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, race religion or belief, sex and 
sexual orientation there are no identified equality considerations.  

10.0 FINANCIAL CONSIDERATIONS

Localism Act (amendment to S70(2) of the TCPA 1990) 

9.1 70(1) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) entitles the relevant 
authority to grant planning permission on application to it. Section 70(2) requires that 
the authority shall have regard to:

 The provisions of the development plan, so far as material to the application;
 Any local finance considerations, so far as material to the application; and,
 Any other material consideration.

9.2 Section 70(4) defines “local finance consideration” as:

 A grant or other financial assistance that has been, or will or could be, 
provided to a relevant authority by a Minister of the Crown; or

 Sums that a relevant authority has received, or will or could receive, in 
payment of Community Infrastructure Levy

In this context “grants” might include New Homes Bonus. This is not applicable to this 
application.

9.3 As regards Community Infrastructure Levy considerations, Members are reminded that 
that the London mayoral CIL became operational from 1 April 2012. Where the 
development will be used for charitable purposes this will be exempt from Mayoral CIL. 
In other cases a Mayoral CIL rate of £35 per square metre will be chargeable for all 
development (non-residential) over 100 sqm.  

Page 89



24

9.1 The Borough’s Community Infrastructure Levy came into force from 1st April 2015. The 
proposal would not be liable for Borough CIL as proposed uses do not attract Borough 
CIL payments.

11.0 CONCLUSION

10.1 All other relevant policies and considerations have been taken into account.  Planning 
permission should be APPROVED for the reasons set out in the MATERIAL 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS section of this report.

Page 90



25Page 91



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 DECLARATIONS OF DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS
	2 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING(S)
	3 RECOMMENDATIONS AND PROCEDURE FOR HEARING OBJECTIONS AND MEETING GUIDANCE
	5 PLANNING APPLICATIONS FOR DECISION
	5.1 114 -150 Hackney Road, London, E2 7QL (PA/17/00250)
	5.2 Brussels Wharf, Glamis Road, E1W 3TD (PA/16/01978)

